Copyright is owned by the Author of the thesis. Permission is given for a copy to be downloaded by an individual for the purpose of research and private study only. The thesis may not be reproduced elsewhere without the permission of the Author.

New Zealand and Australian Marriage and Family Therapy Practitioners: Paradigm Adherence, Practitioner Profiles and Clinical Practice

A thesis presented in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in Psychology at Massey University

Alexandra Mealla Arauz

2002

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all I thank this beautiful country for welcoming me and for all the opportunities it has given me to grow as a person as well as professionally. I came to New Zealand two and a half years ago and can truly say I feel at home. I have received respect, acceptance and appreciation from its people and feel indebted to strive for success and contribute to this country to the best of my abilities. This thesis is dedicated to you.

I thank my supervisors, Cheryl Woolley and Dave Clarke, for many hours of guidance and advice in the development and completion of this project. Cheryl and Dave were always positive and encouraging in the assistance they provided. Special thanks to Dave Clarke for his invaluable input and for generously sharing his time and helping me understand and interpret the data for this study.

I thank Ross Flett for his encouragement and for guiding me with the statistical design.

I would also like to thank Harvey Jones for giving generously of his knowledge and time in helping set up the website and providing me with the data entry program.

I thank Melanie at the school of Psychology in Palmerston North and Linda at the School of Psychology in Albany, for your support and kind assistance. I also thank my friend Pamelita Feetham for caring and believing in my abilities. I thank her for her generosity and for editing and giving honest feedback for this project.

I thank my family for their unconditional love and support, for the sacrifices they have made for me and for always believing in me. I thank my husband, David, for his patience, love and encouragement. I thank him for helping me stay motivated and focused with his optimism and endless confidence in my ability to complete this step in my career. Sin ustedes este sueño no seria realidad!

Mi mas sincero agradecimento a todos ustedes. Gracias!

ABSTRACT

A partial replication of a study conducted in the United States (Booth, 1996) on the theoretical perspectives of marriage and family practitioners using the Paradigm Adherence Scale (PAS), and a survey on demographic characteristics and clinical practice were conducted with New Zealand and Australian marriage and family therapy practitioners. The PAS measures adherence to the three main paradigms associated with marriage and family therapy (psychological, systems and social constructionist). The Australasian marriage and family therapy practitioners in the sample (N=88) were slightly more females than males, mainly middle-aged (48.6 years), and engaged equally in both private and public practices. Participants came from a diversity of mental health disciplines including social work, psychology, counselling and psychotherapy. They had been practising marriage and family therapy for 11.69 years on average, conducting short-term therapy (an average of 9.45 sessions) and treating a wide range of serious problems. Results from the PAS indicated that the largest proportions of participants adhered primarily to a combination of the three paradigms (43.2%) or to a social constructionist paradigm (39.8%). It was found that both the post-graduate and current or most recent supervisors' preferred paradigm predict participants' strength of adherence to a particular paradigm. Some methodological limitations were discussed. The study provided interesting insights into the training and practice of New Zealand and Australian practitioners and provides a baseline for future research, making it possible to describe the developments of marriage and family therapy in Australasia.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	i
ABSTRACT	iii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF APPENDICES	viii
CHAPTER 1	1
Introduction	1
Research Aims	8
CHAPTER 2	10
Historical Overview	10
CHAPTER 3	16
Major Paradigms in Family Therapy	16
Psychological Paradigm	17
Systems Paradigm	19
Social Constructionist Paradigm	23

Summary		33
CHAPTER 4		35
Comparative Studies in the Professional Pract	tice of Family Therapy	35
Research in Family Therapy		41
Training and Supervision		43
Variables Related to Theoretical Orientation I	Preference	48
Summary		49
Hypotheses		50
CHAPTER 5		52
METHODS		52
Participants		52
Instruments		55
Procedure		58
Data Analysis		60
CHAPTER 6		63
RESULTS		63
Characteristics of the Sample		63

Problems, Diagnosis and Confidence in Treatment of Specific Populations	67
Paradigm Adherence and Supervisor's Preferred Paradigm	69
Statistical Analyses for Paradigm Adherence	74
CHAPTER 7	83
DISCUSSION	83
Overview	83
Summary of Main Findings	84
Results of Hypothesis Testing	91
Limitations	98
Contributions to Research and Future Directions	100
Conclusions	101
REFERENCES	105
APPENDICES	129

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 – Demographics of the Sample	53
Table 2 – Characteristics of the Sample of Marriage and Family Therapy Practitioners	64
Table 3 – Frequencies and Percentages by Primary Mode of Practice	66
Table 4 – Frequencies and Percentages for Paradigm Adherence Scale Scores	70
Table 5 – Frequencies and Percentages for Supervisor's Preferred Paradigm	72
Table 6 – Means and Standard Deviations of Males and Females Preferred Paradigm	74
Table 7 – Means and Standard Deviations of Preferred Paradigm Relating to Private and Public Practice	75
Table 8 – Means and Standard Deviations of Participants' Preferred Paradigm and Professional Qualification	77
Table 9 – ANOVA of Participants' Mean Paradigm Adherence Scores and Supervisors' Preferred Paradigm	80
Table 10 – Percentages of Sample Reporting Most Frequent Presenting Problems	139
Table 11 – Percentages of Sample Reporting Most Frequent Disorders Treated	139
Table 12 – Percentages of Sample's Confidence Treating Specific Populations	140

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A – Paradigm Adherence Scale (PAS)	129
Appendix B – Demographic Information Questionnaire	133
Appendix C – Letter to Participants	136
Appendix D – PAS Scoring Key	138
Appendix E – Tables 10, 11 & 12	139

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

Family therapy in Australia and New Zealand is rich and diverse. As Michael Durrant (1994) mentions, family therapy in Australia and New Zealand has developed over a period of 20 years in a variety of locations and with a variety of influences. Amongst these influences were international movements in child welfare, the emergence of humanistic psychology, the therapeutic community movement and the growth of marriage guidance agencies. Clearly, no single person introduced family therapy to Australasia. Many schools of thought particularly in the United States of America (USA), Canada, Britain and Italy influenced it, and it was shaped by the distinctive and diverse social and cultural context of both Australia and New Zealand. Thus, it is fair to state that the emergence of this field has been carefully scrutinised by an environment of self-awareness in which consideration of socio-political factors such as gender, violence, politics, and culture have proven paramount.

This phenomenon is best explained by Stagoll (1982, cited in Durrant, p. 15) "... family therapy in Australia must look carefully at where it fits into Australian society. A therapy which does not deeply explore and confront its relationships with its culture will inevitably become, at best, ineffective and at worst, oppressive and a part of the very problem it seeks to overcome".

In addition, Charles Waldegrave (1998) founder of the Family Centre in Lower Hutt New Zealand postulates, "Cultures are all about the meanings people give events. They raise issues that are critical for psychologists, such as identity and belonging. Our experience at the Family Centre- an organisation that is structured along cultural lines, in the fields of family therapy, community development, social policy research, and education- has led to much new learning. We do our work within three cultural sections, Maori, Pacific Island, and Pakeha (European); each section is staffed primarily by workers from a particular culture" (p. 400).

With these antecedents it is no surprise that there is no single approach to practising, as a marriage and family therapist (MFT), in New Zealand and Australia. Professionals practising within this field come from a wide variety of academic backgrounds and use a broad range of theories and intervention techniques. Throughout the past 50 years, MFT worldwide has taken many twists and turns and has developed into a broad range of methods for working with families with various biopsychosocial difficulties. Within family therapy there is a extensive variety of views concerning what issues are appropriately addressed by family therapy; who defines these problems; what constitutes family therapy practice; what type of theoretical rationale informs these practices and what type of research supports the validity of these practices (Carr, 2000).

Several studies conducted by Bor, Mallandian and Vetere (1998), Doherty and Simmons (1996), Simmons and Doherty (1995, 1998) and Nelson and Palmer (2001) on the clinical

practice patterns of marriage and family therapists (MFTs) in the USA and the United Kingdom have begun to construct a professional practice profile. In each study clinical members of the American Association of Marriage and Family Therapy (AAMFT) or the United Kingdom Association of Family Therapists (AFT) were surveyed regarding demographic characteristics, educational background and practice related characteristics. In 1996 Booth (Booth & Cottone, 2000) took a different approach and assessed the theoretical perspectives of marriage and family therapists by devising a scale (Paradigm Adherence Scale) which measures practitioners' adherence to a specific paradigm associated with family therapy.

However, no studies in Australia or New Zealand have documented the professional practice of marriage and family therapists (MFTs). A partial replication of Booth's (1996) study conducted in the USA and a comparison between the present study and the aforementioned studies has been conducted as means of verifying similarities and unique aspects of MFTs and their practice in Australasia. Therefore the current study focuses on achieving an understanding of the idiosyncrasies of MFT practice and the major theoretical frameworks informing clinical practice within Australia and New Zealand. This study also reviews the research literature on paradigm adherence by MFTs and highlights the trajectory of theoretical perspectives which have informed clinical practice to the present.

Two surveys of MFT, conducted in the mid 1970s in the USA by Everett (1980) and Sprenkle, Keeney and Sutton (1982), found that members of the AAMFT reported being more influenced and oriented to individual and psychodynamic approaches in their practice, than by systems approaches. On the other hand, similar studies conducted in the mid 1980's (Nichols, Nichols & Hardy, 1990; Wetchler, 1988) found that more therapists reported their primary clinical orientation as one of systems, rather than psychodynamic theories. Simmons and Doherty's (1995) Minnesota study of MFTs found that therapists who received academic training in a marriage and family therapy program had a more systemic orientation. This was evidenced by a tendency to conceptualise problems at the family and larger systems level rather than at an individual level.

Similarly, the survey of clinical members of the AAMFT conducted by Booth in 1996 reported that a majority of therapists were primarily adhering to the systems paradigm (43.6%) or practising from a combination of paradigms (42.2%). However, the newer social constructionist approaches were being used by a smaller but significant percentage of therapists (13.7%). Furthermore, nearly half of the therapists in the paradigm combination group chose responses indicating adherence to both systems and social constructionist philosophies.

These findings coincide with the rapid growth of post-modernism, specifically social constructionist approaches, and changes in the field during the 1990s. Social constructionist theories emerged out of criticisms of traditional family systems paradigms (Hoffman, 1988). The tenets of this newer approach reflect a new epistemology for

mental health and marriage and family therapy professionals. These include ideas about reality as socially constructed, the central role of language and meanings in therapy, the socio-political and cultural context of problems, and the importance of collaborative and consensus-building processes in therapy (McGoldrick, 1998; McNamee & Gergen, 1992; White & Epston, 1992; Waldegrave & Tamasese, 1993).

Therapies reflective of social constructionist thought are usually discussed within the metaphors of conversation, dialogue, narrative, consensus, and meaning. The client may be an individual, a whole family, or varying groups of family members and other significant persons. The focus of therapy is placed on client's strengths and new ways of interpreting their life. Some proponents of this approach are Anderson and Goolishian (1988; 1990), Cecchin (1992), de Shazer (1991), Hoffman (1988; 1990; 1991), O'Hanlon (1992), and White and Epston (1990).

Of particular interest to this research is the important contribution of Michael White and David Epston's Narrative therapy to Australia and New Zealand practice (1990; 1992). Payne (1999) described Narrative therapy as built around two organizing metaphors, personal narratives and social constructions. Narrative therapy emphasizes the detachment from unhelpful stories by externalizing problems. By challenging fixed and pessimistic versions of experiences, therapists make room for flexibility and hope. Uncovering unique outcomes provides an opening through which new and more optimistic stories can be envisioned.

Clearly, this approach has generated a great deal of awareness of family therapy as a beneficial treatment modality. The large numbers of publications in reputable journals and newsletters are evidences of its acceptance locally, as well as internationally. For example, the Australian and New Zealand Journal of Family Therapy (Flaskas, 1995, 1999), The Dulwich Centre Newsletter (Adelaide, 2000; White, 2001), Family Process (Strand, 1997) and the Journal of Marital and Family Therapy (Minuchin, 1998; Sulzki, 1998), to name a few have recently published articles on Narrative therapy and have ongoing debates about its implications to practice. In addition, the Dulwich Centre is currently advertising workshops and training opportunities, and has issued the inaugural edition of The International Journal of Narrative Therapy and Community Work (Dulwich Center, 2002) with contributions by Monica McGoldrick, Charles Waldegrave, and Karl Tomm, among others. This approach will be addressed further in the following section.

Now that social constructionist therapies are taking centre stage in the family therapy literature, it seems timely to examine to what extent New Zealanders and Australians are using this approach in their practice. It is also necessary to explore how practice under this new paradigm compares to the more traditional psychological and systemic paradigms. In other words, this study takes up the task of organising and clarifying the assumptions outlining MFT practice in Australasia.

Considering that practice must be informed by research in order to provide the most effective and efficient services, it is essential to differentiate between various theories and therapies available today (Bergin & Garfield 1994; Piercy & Sprenkle, 1990). Evolving paradigms must, therefore, be examined for their usefulness and validity in particular areas. Also, to gain a better understanding of current trends, information about the prevalence of a particular paradigm employed by practitioners, as well as its core characteristics, is necessary. For informed choices to be made, it is paramount to demonstrating the viability of various treatment modalities to health care professionals, consumers and trainees, as well as the options available to them.

Most research examining the clinical practice of MFTs and comparing therapists across disciplines has focused on the outcome of therapy (Dunn & Schwebel, 1995; Pinsof & Wynne, 1995; Pinsof, Wynne & Hambright, 1996; Shadish, Ragsdale, Glaser & Montgomery, 1996). Only recently, has the process of what actually takes place during the course of family therapy been addressed (Alexander, Holtzworth-Munroe & Jameson, 1994; Piercy & Sprenkle, 1990). Research which disseminates clear ideas regarding who clinicians are and what happens in the "real world" of clinical practice, is still scarce.

In contrast, the focus of this study is not directed at client satisfaction but relies instead on practitioner's accounts of their own practice, training and supervisory experiences.

Aspects of studies conducted by Booth & Cottone (2000) Doherty and Simmons (1996),

Nelson & Palmer, (2001) and Simmons and Doherty, (1995, 1998), have served as

guidelines for the current study. Questions on demographic information have been extracted from these studies and adapted to the Australasian population. As well, Booth's Paradigm Adherence Scale (PAS) has been used to gain specific information on techniques and interventions employed in clinical practice.

The present study's significance lies in the fact that different academic and clinical training requirements (e.g., course work, theoretical orientation, supervisory requirements and internship requirements), evident throughout diverse training institutes in Australasia (Australian and New Zealand Journal of Family Therapy, 2000; Cantwell & Holmes, 1994), may be associated with different approaches in areas of clinical practice. These include the manner in which presenting problems are conceptualised, diagnostic practices or a philosophy of non-diagnosis, length of treatment, as well as primary mode of practice, to name a few. In other words, when comparing Australasian professionals with their counterparts in USA and the United Kingdom, it is useful to note clinical practice differences and similarities, as well as to link these findings with previous research.

Research Aims

Due to lack of published information about what characteristics influence the actual practice of therapists in New Zealand and Australia, the first part of this study was descriptive. It aimed at understanding the characteristics and clinical practice of MFT in

Australasia and at comparing them to North American and British practice. In order to address these issues the following research questions have been formulated:

Who are Australian and New Zealand MFT practitioners?

What level of training have they received?

What professions comprise MFT practitioners?

In which setting are they primarily employed?

How long have MFTs been in clinical practice and how long have they been working in MFT?

How long do they engage in treatment?

How much weekly contact do they have with clients and what is their active caseload?

What are the presenting problems most frequently seen?

What are the most frequent disorders treated?

What client populations do they feel confident treating?

What training experience do practitioners have and what MFT approach did supervisors prefer?

The second part of this research was aimed at determining which paradigm professionals currently practising MFT favour. It also explored the relationship between paradigm preference and supervisory experiences.

CHAPTER 2

This chapter highlights main events that took part in the development of marriage and family therapy to date. A historical review of the evolution of family therapy will be outlined, leading into the major paradigms in family therapy.

Historical Overview

Family therapy first emerged in the 1950s in a number of different countries, and within the contexts of a variety of different movements, disciplines, research and therapeutic traditions. Some of the pivotal events that shifted the view of life problems from an individual to a systemic perspective, include the child guidance movements and the marriage counselling movement; social work; psychiatry and clinical psychology practices; the studies of small group dynamics; the etiology of schizophrenia; the general systems theories and cybernetics (Broderick & Schraeder, 1991; Nichols, 1992).

The earliest approaches to psychotherapy prevalent in the 20th century focused on individual therapy and the patient-therapist relationship as the best way to treat psychological problems. Human problems were intrapersonal; therefore patients were separated from their families for treatment based on their individual symptomatic behaviours. Family therapy emerged as an alternative to the more traditional (individual based), limited ways of thinking about and treating specific syndromes, specially the

treatment of children and adolescents (Alexander & Parson, 1982; Haley, 1973; Minuchin, 1974). This new contextual perspective proposed that psychological problems were developed and maintained within the social context of the family. As a result the focus of treatment was redirected from the internal world of the individual patient to the entire family system.

In the 1950s and 1960s, psychodynamic, client-centered and biomedical individually focused interventions dominated mainstream mental-health practice. These models advocated a causal, linear model of understanding human illness that emphasised internal dysfunction, but failed to recognise the reciprocal nature of interpersonal relations (Nichols & Schwartz, 2001). In opposition, family therapy proposed that psychological problems were best explained by circular, recursive events which focused on the mutually influential and interpersonal context in which they developed (Bateson, 1972).

Family therapy evolved within the child guidance clinics when experimental conjoint interviews, involving parents and children, began to be held. Through similar experiments John Bowbly in London and John Bell in the USA, determined that a child's symptoms were usually a function of emotional distress within the family (Kaslow, 1984). Marriage counselling also contributed to the development of family therapy, when in the 1930's psychoanalysts (e.g., Oberndorf) recognised the advantages of treating married couples in conjoint sessions. Later, Nathaniel Ackerman agreed that the

simultaneous treatment of married couples was a good idea and suggested that mothers and children could benefit from being treated together (Ackerman, 1966; Kaslow, 1984).

Social work, psychiatry and clinical psychology independently made significant contributions to family therapy. Social workers often visited families in their homes and were trained to interview each family member to gain understanding of the family's problems. Many prominent family therapists were initially trained in social work, and their family oriented background contributed generously to the development of marriage and family therapy. These include Virginia Satir, Lynn Hoffman and Monica McGoldrick in the USA; and Michael White in Australia. Within psychiatry, Alfred Adler and Harry Stack Sullivan's work emphasised the importance of fragmented family relationships in the development and maintenance of symptomatic behaviours. Whereas in clinical psychology the involvement of parents in behaviour therapy programmes with their children and the application of the principles of social learning theory, laid the foundations for the development of family therapy (Broderick & Schraeder, 1991).

Group dynamics have also been relevant to family therapy because group life is a complex blend of individual personalities and the underlying properties of the group. During the 1920s, social psychologists studied small group dynamics in order to understand political problems, group structure and group boundaries. Empirical research conducted by Kurt Lewin in the 1950s led to the conceptualisation that a group is more than the sum of its parts. He suggested that group discussions are superior to individual

instructions or lecturing, for changing ideas and behaviour. This finding emphasised that conjoint family meetings might be more effective than separate meetings with individuals (Nichols & Schwartz, 2001).

Two important concepts of small group dynamics are the distinction between process and content of group discussions, and role theory. Therapists needed to understand not only what was said (content), but also how these ideas were communicated (process). It was believed that by focusing on the process of interrelating, therapists could help families improve the way they related and thus enhance their own capacity to deal with the content of their problems (Carr, 2000). Virginia Satir (1972) expanded on the concept of how individuals behave and communicate in groups by describing several family roles, which served to stabilise expected characteristic behaviour patterns in a family. Other forms of group dynamics that also contributed to family therapy include psychodrama and gestalt therapy. In Moreno's (1945) psychodrama clients are encouraged to act out their conflicts instead of discussing them. Whereas Perls' (1961) gestalt therapy allows clients to address two sides of a dilemma or deal with unfinished emotional business in instances where the other party is unavailable or deceased.

By highlighting the role of family dynamics in the aetiology and maintenance of abnormal behaviour, scientific research into the familial origins of schizophrenia also contributed to the emergence of family therapy. In the 1940s and 1950s Bateson in Palo Alto, Lidz at Yale, and Bowen at the National Institute of Mental Health conducted

research on families with schizophrenic members. Their studies provided insights into family dynamics and communication processes.

Gregory Bateson (1972) along with Jay Haley, John Weakland, John Fry and Don Jackson developed the schizophrenia project in Palo Alto, and made significant contributions to the development of family therapy (Bateson, Jackson, Haley & Weakland, 1956). These contributions consisted of the double-bind theory of schizophrenia and the conceptualisation of communication as a multilevel process. In addition, their conceptualization of general systems theory and cybernetics served as a guideline for understanding family organisation and processes (e.g., Bateson, 1978; Haley, 1973; Jackson, 1967).

The double-bind theory was particularly significant because it offered a complex yet logical explanation of the links between family process and abnormal behaviour, highlighting the occurrences of simultaneous communications at multiple levels.

Although many of the assumptions about the family's role in schizophrenia later proved to be incorrect, these researches resulted in some of the earliest observations of communication and organisation of families (Nichols and Schwartz, 2001).

Another assumption of the Palo Alto group was that general systems theory, along with cybernetics, could offer a framework within which to conceptualise family organisation and process, thus offering an explanation for abnormal behaviour (Gurman & Kniskern,

1991; Nichols & Schwartz, 2001). General systems theory addresses Lewin's idea and questions "How is it that the whole is more than the sum of its parts?" while Cybernetics attends to the question: "How do systems use feedback to remain stable or to adapt to new circumstances?" (Carr, 2000, p.60). These theories, when applied to family therapy, suggested that the family is a system with semi-permeable boundaries that is organised into subsystems capable of using negative and positive feedback to promote stability and change.

Along with the aforementioned theories, psychodynamic theories, experiential theories, cognitive/behavioural theories, communication models, intergenerational models, feminist contributions and postmodern approaches, are amongst the most influential theories or "schools of thought" in the development of family therapy to date. In the following chapter some of these theories will be discussed within the three main paradigms associated with marriage and family therapy.

CHAPTER 3

Major Paradigms in Family Therapy

As discussed previously, marriage and family therapy developed from many schools and traditions, and uses a wide range of intervention techniques. Different authors have classified these "schools" to create a better understanding of the circumstances of their development and to help identify the similarities and differences among them (e.g., Booth & Cottone, 2000; Cottone, 1989, 1992; Goldenberg & Goldenberg, 2000; Madanes & Haley, 1977; Nichols & Schwartz, 2001). Booth and Cottone (2000; Cottone, 1992) proposed the classification of marriage and family therapy into three main paradigms. These include the psychological, the systems and the social constructionist paradigms and will be addressed below with respect to their theoretical frameworks and their therapeutic practices. The three paradigms will underpin core literature considered for the current study.

Booth and Cottone (2000) identify the characteristics of these three paradigms as follows: Firstly the "psychological paradigm focuses on the individual and intrapersonal dynamics; historical perspectives used to assess and assign diagnosis; and insight (cognitive or affective) viewed as precursors to change". Secondly the "systems paradigm focuses on the family's interpersonal interaction; encourages a present and future-oriented

focus; attempts to resolve relationship problems; avoids psychiatric diagnostic labels; and views symptoms presented as indicating dysfunction in the family". Finally the "Social constructionist paradigm focuses on conversation, dialogue, narrative, consensus, and meaning; on the awareness of social and cultural processes in defining problems; emphasises the importance of a collaborative process in therapy, on relying on the family's strengths" (p. 330).

Psychological Paradigm

Cottone (1992) postulates that psychological thinking reflects a cause and effect perspective in which personal problems are assumed to result from specific antecedent characteristics in the environment of the person seeking treatment. He states that the main theoretical assumptions underlying the psychological paradigm include placing the main focus of attention on the individual and intrapersonal dynamics, as well as assessing and diagnosing individuals in order to find the cause of the problem. Thereafter, problems can be identified, studied and modified directly. In other words, therapeutic change is seen to occur through some modification of a client's thoughts, feelings or behaviours. As Booth (1996) mentions, therapeutic strategies under this paradigm are directed toward internal or external processes affecting the individual.

For example, behavioural models of family therapy attempt to bring scientific methods into practice by developing regularly monitored, data-based intervention procedures.

Personal functioning is viewed as the result of continuous, reciprocal interaction between behaviour and its controlling social conditions. Therefore, cognitive-behavioural therapists attempt to increase positive interactions between family members, alter the environmental conditions that oppose such interactions, and train people to maintain their newly acquired positive behavioural changes (Baucom & Epstein, 1990). Some specific therapies that derive from cognitive-behavioural theories include behavioural couple therapy, behavioural parent training, functional family therapy, and the conjoint treatment of sexual dysfunction. Proper assessment plays a key role in all of these efforts inclusive of identifying the problem, measuring progress and validating change (Alexander & Parsons, 1982; Dattilio, 1998).

Therapists adopting a psychological approach may see clients in individual therapy or marriage and family therapy. Thus, a therapist meeting with a couple or family may be employing psychological or individually oriented assumptions and techniques in therapy. These approaches may then arrive at a singular family diagnosis, sustained by a DSM-IV like procedures, which is linked to a curative mode of treatment. The practice of which is based on empirical research (Denton, Patterson & Van Meir, 1997; Tomm & Sanders, 1983).

Some other specific models of therapy reflective of the psychological paradigm are rational-emotive, client-centred, Gestalt, and psychodynamic. Authors pertaining to these tenets include but are not limited to Ackerman (1966), Boszormenyi-Nagy and Spark

(1973) Framo (1976; 1992), Rogers (1980) object relations proponent Fairburn (1954) and psychoanalyst Meissner (1981).

Systems Paradigm

Systems theories began to blossom in the 1960s and flourished in the 1970s changing the focus from the individual and individual problems to the family system. As a direct challenge to the medical and psychological treatment philosophies, the systems paradigm practitioners focus on relationships issues (Cottone, 1992). Some of the characteristics of the systems paradigm include change occurring through social relationships in specific contexts. The causes of clients' problems are seen as being non-linear and reciprocal.

Some specific models of therapy reflective of the systems paradigm include: strategic family therapy, Mental Research Institute's (MRI) brief therapy, structural family therapy and systemic family therapy. The systems paradigm's main focus lies in identifying problem-maintaining behavioural patterns, and believes that if the family context changes so will the individual's behaviours.

Strategic

Strategic Family therapy has it roots in the Palo Alto research group led by Bateson. Key figures of the strategic approach include Jay Haley and Cloe Madanes, who believe that a

faulty hierarchy within the family maintains problems (Haley, 1987; Madanes & Haley, 1977). Strategic interventions are generally characterized by the use of specific strategies for addressing family problems and interventions are directly geared toward changing the presenting complaint. Therapy is change-oriented and the therapist is responsible for successful therapeutic outcomes, which are accomplished by the therapist first assessing the cycle of paradoxical directives (Haley, 1987). Strategic therapists focus on present interactions, they do not interpret family member's behaviour or explore the past. Thus, therapy is terminated when presenting problems have ceased (Fish & Piercy, 1987).

Mental Research Institute (MRI)

The principal figures in the MRI tradition include John Weakland, Paul Watzlawick, Robert Fisch and Lynn Segal. The MRI brief approach to family therapy is an integration of Bateson's (1972) ideas on cybernetics and systems theories, Erickson's approach to hypnotherapy and von Foerster's (1981) constructivism (Fisch, Weakland & Segal, 1982).

The main concept of the MRI approach is focused on problem maintaining sequences within an individual. Proponents postulate that ineffective attempts to solve problems eventually come to maintain these problems. Assessment therefore focuses on tracking repetitive behaviour patterns involving problems and ineffective attempted solutions.

Tracking is achieved by asking questions in the session and then disrupting problemmaintaining behaviour patterns by assigning homework paradoxically designed to break

up the existing sequence of behaviour. Treatment goals do not involve changing the family, nor do therapists take place much importance on hierarchy. Treatment is limited to an average of 10 sessions (Weakland et al., 1974).

Structural

Structural Family Therapy emerged in the early 1970s and was seen as the most influential model in the MFT field. Salvador Minuchin (1974), the primary advocate of this approach, described families as having an underlying organisation in terms that provide clear guidelines for diagnosis and treatment The most important tenet of his theory suggests that every family has a structure that is revealed only when the family is in action. Structural therapy is characterised by its emphasis on organisational issues and the main goals of therapy include correcting dysfunctional hierarchies by clearing boundaries between parent and child (Colapinto, 1991). Structural therapy involves promoting a healthy structure by modifying the way people relate to one another and it is finalised once the family structure is altered in a way it can maintain itself without the use of the presenting problem (Fish & Piercy, 1987).

Milan Systemic

The original Milan team comprised Selvini Palazzoli, Boscolo, Cecchin and Prata (1978).

Milan systemic family therapy is similar to the strategic and MRI approaches, as the

works of Bateson also influenced it. The Milan team presented a model in which problems were viewed as being maintained by interactional patterns, and individual symptoms were seen as maintained by family homeostasis. To counteract this resistance to change, the team relied on paradoxical interventions. They identified three fundamental interviewing guidelines for therapy, hypothesising, circularity, and neutrality, which are used to shape the structure of the therapeutic process (Selvini Palazzoli et al., 1980). These include the intake procedure, the number and frequency of sessions, the nature of between-session contacts, and responses to a lack of therapeutic progress (Tomm, 1984).

Summary

The approaches to therapy addressed above are reflective of Cottone's (1992) systemic-relational paradigm. In these approaches a reciprocal causality prevails a linear one. The focus is placed on the interpersonal and contextual influences of people's actions, and on identifying and disrupting problem-maintaining interaction patterns. Treatment is brief, and the main treatment goal is the resolution of the presenting problem.

Social Constructionist Paradigm

The 1980s and 1990s saw family therapy undergo a gradual but dramatic transformation. Family therapy literature was influenced by philosophy, biology, psychology, linguistics and feminist studies which challenged the main tenets of the traditional systems model, resulting in a paradigmatic shift (Hoffman, 2002). This newer movement defined as postmodernism is not interested in psychodiagnostic labels nor does it preoccupy itself with intrapsychic issues. Instead the 'new epistemology' of the marriage and family therapy paradigm is concerned with issues of knowledge, power, control, and objectivity (Hoffman, 1985).

Many references in recent family therapy literature allude to the paradigmatic shift from a modernist model to post-modern metaphors (Wieling & Negretti, Strokes, Kimball, et al., 2001; Doherty, 1991). Modernism is the idea that autonomous subjects, through reason and science, attain objective knowledge of a reality and discover lasting truths about the world. In family therapy this translates into the search for an essential theory of family functioning, such as the cybernetic-systems model (Hoffman, 1985).

Post-modernism responds to the questions of ontology and epistemology by denying that a real world can be known through an objective lens. This theory also denies that the world can be understood outside texts, language and social discourse about it (Docherty, 1993). Post-modern thinkers employ the construct of constructivism to emphasise the

subjective construction of reality. They also believe that peoples knowledge of the world derives from their own creating, ordering, constructing, and giving meaning to what people experience. The main focuses are placed on multiple perspectives and realities, the social, political, and historical forces shaping peoples conceptions of reality, and the constantly changing nature of human beings (Doherty, 1991).

With the post-modern assumption "there are no realities only points of view", came an interest in how narratives organising people's lives are generated. Family therapists in the post-modern tradition are constructivists who view therapy as a collaborative process between the therapist and the client. Therapists concern themselves with how people make meaning of their lives and how they construct reality. They participates with the client in deconstructing the universal truth in the story clients bring to therapy and collaborates in constructing a new story which solves problems the dominant story does not (Doherty, 1991).

Post modernism was also greatly influenced by the feminist critique which challenged family therapy tenets such as neutrality, circularity, and the emphasis on family systems at the expense of the individual (Avis, 1985). Feminism has also provoked and supported significant shifts in the therapist/client relationship advocating instead a more equal, collaborative and empathic partnership (Sprinkle & Bischof, 1994). Feminism is also significant because it is one of the few movements within family therapy that has critically examined the values of the society to which family therapists are helping people

to adjust. It has a clear vision of the threats to family life including patriarchy and its consequential oppression that denies women, children, and even men dignity, free choice, and a sense of equality (Avis, 1992, 1996; Hare-Mustin, 1980, 1987)

Post- modern theories have at times been called constructivist, contextual, narrative, reflexive, and second order cybernetics. Although different theoretical ideas are associated with these terms, social construction may be a theoretically more precise term which reflects the idea of this paradigmatic shift (Hoffman, 1990; Sprenkle and Bischof, 1994). In social constructionist theory, problems are conceptualised as stories that people agree to tell themselves and others. White and Epston suggest 'what a therapist and client do during the interview is akin to co-authoring and reading a book' (1991, p 68). This is a revolutionary break from the idea that "... symptoms are the result of some underlying problem, a psychic or structural problem such as incongruent hierarchies, covert parental conflicts, low self esteem, deviant communications, repressed feelings, or "dirt games"..." (de Shazer, 1991; p. 31).

Social Constructionist family therapies are based on the writings of Bateson (1972, 1979), Derrida (1982), Foucault, (1965,1980), Gergen (1985), Maturana and Varela (1980, 1987), Piaget (1952), von Foerster, (1981), von Glaserfeld (1984), Hare-Mustin (1987) and others. As Hoffman states (1990) social constructionism differs from the more biologically oriented term "constructivism", in that it places more emphasis on social interpretation and the intersubjective influence of language and culture.

Constructivism

Post-modern psychology is interested in how people make meaning in their lives and how they construct reality. Knowledge, its nature and how people come to know, are essential considerations for constructivists. According to von Glasersfeld (1988 p. 86) constructivists view knowledge as actively constructed by people through their interactions with their environment, and although it does not deny the existence of an ontological reality, it denies the human observer the possibility of acquiring a true representation of reality.

Neimeyer & Mahoney, (1993, 1995) describe constructivism as am epistemological perspective that emphasises on the assertion that humans are proactive participants in their own experience. They view human live as an organising processes operating at implicit levels of awareness, and human experience as reflecting the dynamics of individualised, self-organising processes. Therefore, constructivism focuses on the self-organising and proactive features of human knowing and their implication for human change.

In 1984 von Glasersfeld introduced the term "radical constructivism" to the family therapy field sustaining the view that reality results from the relatively durable perceptual and cognitive structures of the knower. The two basic principles of this approach are that

knowledge is actively constructed by the individual and not passively received, and that the function of cognition organises the experiential world rather than seeking to discover ontological reality. The focus on radical constructivism resides on how individuals' "dynamic" cognitions are structurally determined by the nervous system and are continuously producing one's adaptation to the environment (von Glasersfeld, 1988).

Paul Watzlawick, Paul Dell and Lynn Hoffman imported the implication constructivism has into the role of the family therapist. Hoffman (1990,) and explained the role of the therapist as having no presuppositions or set ideas about pathology, dysfunctional structures, and what should be changed. Instead constructivist family therapists have shifted their attention to the process by which families negotiate a common reality.

Constructivist therapists seek to discover what is problematic for each client they serve, problems are viewed in the context in which they are embedded and interpretations of experiences depend on the language used and the meanings attached to them by the client (Efran, Lukens & Lukens, 1988). The interventions that result from this interaction help the client explore possible avenues for movement while respecting the core organising principles on which his or her view of life are constructed. Thus, psychotherapy can be viewed as collaboration in the construction and reconstruction of meaning.

Social Constructionism

Social constructionist theory and constructivism are comparative in some ways. The idea of an objective truth or knowledge is also challenged and the social or interactional (and thus language-dependent) aspect of self-knowledge and knowledge of the world is emphasized. Social constructionism focuses on the notion of that the individual's realities are multiple and that reality is socially constructed (Anderson & Goolishian, 1990; Gergen, 1985; McNamee & Gergen, 1992). However, Hoffman (1990) suggested that social constructionist theory, as opposed to constructivism, "places far more emphasis on social interpretation and the intersubjective influence of language, family, and culture, and much less on the operations of the nervous system (p. 2). In addition to this, evolving, fluid, and socially-influenced processes of creating meanings are emphasised rather than a fixed model of biologically based cognition" (p. 3).

Social constructionist theories emerged out of criticisms to the traditional family systems paradigm. The tenets of social constructionism reflect a new epistemology for mental health and marriage and family therapy professionals. These include ideas about: reality as socially constructed, the central role of language and meanings in therapy, the sociopolitical and cultural context of problems, and the importance of collaborative and consensus-building processes in therapy. These tenets imply that therapists grounded in a social constructionist approach, work from a collaborative non-expert stance in which therapy is co-constructed. The therapist focuses on assisting clients understand the

cultural roots of their beliefs and facilitates the exploration of new meaning, thus achieving better outcomes for new solutions (Andersen, 1991; Andersen & Goolishian, 1990; White, 1995; Epston & White, 1992).

Some specific social constructionist therapeutic approaches in which language and meaning take precedence over behavioural sequences or family interactional patterns are: narrative therapy (White & Epston, 1990), the reflecting team approach (Andersen, 1991), solution-oriented therapy (O'Hanlon & Weiner-Davis, 1989), cognitive-consensual therapy (Cottone, 1992), solution-focused therapy (de Shazer, 1991; de Shazer & Berg, 1992), the reflexive stance (Hoffman, 1990, 1991), and the collaborative language systems approach (Anderson, 1994; Anderson & Goolishian, 1988, 1990). Of particular relevance to this study are narrative therapy and the "Just Therapy" approach as well as solution focused brief therapy.

Narrative Therapy

The contributions of Michael White and David Epston's Narrative therapy have had many implications for current practice in the Australasian family therapy field. Narrative therapy is based on the postmodern narrative approach of viewing human interactions from a storied and moral universe. White, Epston and the whole narrative movement have been influenced by Michael Foucault's ideas. White (1991) following Foucault's ideas, stated that "meaning structures and practices are inseparable and related to power"

(p.122). Therefore culture's dominant stories can disempower and objectify individuals in their actions and meanings. Language and telling of relational stories are embedded within a cultural and social context.

Just as the dominant discourses within a culture suppress marginalized voices, the same process occurs within individuals whose self-conception differs from cultural norms (Freedman & Combs, 1996, McGoldrick, 1998). White (1997) challenges therapists to be transparent, to fully own their ideas as perspectives which may be biased by their own race, gender and class, rather than putting them forth as the truth. Narrative therapists try not to make assumptions about people in order to honor each client's unique story and cultural heritage. Therapists are interested in co-authoring with clients new stories about them, emphasizing their preferred ways of relating to themselves and to others. Narrative therapy is a commitment to helping people rewrite the stories of their lives re-envisioning their pasts and rewriting their futures.

In contrast to the more traditional approaches, Narrative therapy encourages therapists to take a collaborative empathetic position and to search for a time in the client's history when he or she was strong or resourceful. This is achieved by using questions, directed at externalizing peoples' problem, and by taking a non-imposing, respectful approach.

Spaces are opened for the re authoring of alternative life stories (White, 1989; Zimmerman & Dickerson, 1996).

Among the main contributions of White and Epston's (1994) work in Australia and New Zealand are the "externalization of problems", and the use of therapeutic letters.

These are used as mechanisms for assisting families to separate "problem saturated" aspects of their lives and relationships and to address the future and predict continued success in the search for new possibilities. Epston also developed "leagues", or groups of people battling with the same problem as part of a supporting community (Epston et al., 1994; Epston & White, 1992).

In addition to the specific contributions of Narrative therapy, and as a response to post-modern challenges along with an apparent western philosophy based dominant mental health field, Australian and New Zealand therapists have committed to place therapy within a larger sociopolitical and gender context. For example, the 'Just therapy' approach of the Family Center in Lower Hutt New Zealand promotes a therapy which takes into account the gender, cultural, social and economic context of clients.

Additionally, this team of therapists has formed gender and cultural caucuses composed of people from dominated groups which they regularly consult regarding matters of therapy or policy (Waldegrave, 1990; Tamasese & Waldegrave, 1993). Therapists see their work as a political enterprise freeing clients from oppressive cultural assumptions and empowering them to become active agents in charge of their own lives.

The previously addressed social constructionist tenets attempt to capture the essence of the second article of the Treaty of Waitangi that confirms Maori rights to selfdetermination and autonomy. The main endeavour is to provide culturally just and ethical services to all peoples as made evident by the New Zealand Psychological Society (Love & Whittaker, 1997). Some general guidelines for practice stated by Raymond Nairn and the National Standing Committee on Bicultural Issues (1997, p. 134), suggest that "mental heath professionals must be aware of the cultural preconceptions, both those of the discipline and their own, which shape their practice. They must be able to practice within the limits of their competence, in the presence of history with a strong awareness of the social context – its present reality and historical development- and how that impacts on themselves, their client and their relationship".

Solution-Focused Brief Therapy

Steve de Shazer and Insoo Kim Berg, developed solution-focused brief therapy as a pragmatic treatment that emphasises on helping construct solutions rather than solve problems. The main therapeutic task involves helping clients to imagine how they would like things to be different and what it will take to make that happen. Therapists assume clients want to change, have the capacity to envision change, and are doing their best to make change happen. Furthermore, solution-focused therapists assume that the solution, or at least part of it, is already happening (Weiner-Davis, de Shazer, & Gingerich, 1987).

With in this approach little attention is paid to diagnosis, history taking, or exploration of the problem. Instead specific therapeutic techniques include the miracle question, which asks the client to pretend that a miracle has happened and imagine a solution to the problem (DeJong & Berg, 1998; de Shazer, 1988). A second technique routinely used is the scaling question, which asks the client to rate on a 10-point scale how things are today.

Michael Durrant and Kate Kowalski have established the use of solution-focused approach in Australia. Durrant (1993, 1995) has written about, taught and applied solution-focused and competency based treatments within residential treatment centers, and child welfare. He affirms that the ideas of de Shazer and those of White have influenced him and a number of Australian and New Zealand therapists. Durrant also mentions that the practice of externalising the problem is a useful tool with in his "solution-focused' approach (Durrant, 1994; Eron & Lund, 1996)). This approach is currently used in family service and mental health settings, in public social services and child welfare, in prisons and residential treatment centers as well as in schools and hospitals (Miller, Hubble, & Duncan, 1996).

Summary

Influential theories of family therapy have been reviewed and have been categorized into three main family therapy paradigms (psychological, systems and social constructionist). While approaches have been separated into organizing categories and differences in philosophy about the nature of families and how best to intervene continue to exist

between approaches, these have not developed in a vacuum. The field of marriage and family therapy has undergone a rapid growth, product of distinct and completing theories adapting to the ever-changing society demands. As a result a multiplicity of different theoretical ideas, gives practitioners an abundance of options to choice from. Presently a clear trend exists towards identifying common factor across approaches leading to an integration of family therapy models (Blow & Sprenkle, 2001). Consequently, these approaches are becoming less mutually exclusive. As Broderick and Schraeder (1991) affirm the field is moving into more holistic and comprehensive ways of assessing and intervening with families.

CHAPTER 4

Comparative Studies in the Professional Practice of Family Therapy

Bor et al. (1998), Doherty and Simmons (1996), Simmons and Doherty (1995, 1998) and Nelson and Palmer (2001) reported important findings relevant to the present study. In each study family therapy practitioners were surveyed regarding demographic characteristics, educational background and practice related characteristics. These studies main findings were that MFT practices are relatively short-term, especially when compared to individual therapies. As well the studies found that MFT treats a wide range of severe clinical problems.

The two studies on the clinical practice patterns of MFT in Minnesota and on a USA national sample conducted by Simmons & Doherty (1995) and Doherty & Simmons (1996) respectively, found that MFT's practice a relatively short-term therapy. Therapy conducted with families and couples was briefer than individual therapy. Treatment continued for an average of 12 sessions, 11.5 sessions for couples therapy and nine sessions for family therapy, tending to be shorter than individual therapy which on average continued for 13 sessions. About half of the treatment provided by MFTs is individual psychotherapy, and the other half is mostly divided between couple and family

therapy, or a combination of modalities. Therapists and clients also reported that marriage and family therapy is an effective treatment that results in substantial improvement in individual, family, work and social functioning. MFTs also reported that they treat a wide range of serious clinical problems including depression, marital problems, anxiety, child behaviour problems, parent-child problems, and other psychological problems of adults and children.

Nelson and Palmer's (2001) study provided descriptive information on members of the Utah Association for Marriage and Family Therapists (n=77). Findings indicated that respondents were mostly male, white, and a highly educated group of practitioners who hold primary licensure in MFT and identify themselves primarily as MFTs. The results from the Minnesota (Simmons & Doherty, 1995) and national (Doherty and & Simmons, 1996) samples were compared with the Utah study. Conclusively, respondents in the three studies were similar in age (late forties to early fifties) and years of practice (13-15 years). However, main differences were found with regards to gender (more males than females), length of treatment (completed therapy in fewer sessions) and problems diagnosed (fewer adjustment and anxiety disorders diagnosed and depression diagnosed more frequently). Utah MFT's also reported less utilisation of DSM "V" codes than did their colleagues in other states.

A similar study to the ones conducted in the U.S.A was aimed at members of the Association of Family Therapy in the UK (Bor et al., 1997). A 33% response rate was

obtained (N = 495) and the major finding indicated that family therapists were more likely to work for NHS trust, to use family therapy techniques, predominantly used systemic ideas, and treat a broad range of client issues. They were more likely to work with families and family therapy was short term (5 to 8 sessions) whether they were treating families, couples or individuals.

Among the issues most frequently treated in therapy were relationship problems (93%), followed by parent child problems (86%) and marital problems (82%). The researchers also found that among the approaches, which have most influenced practice in the UK, were the Milan systemic (43%), the psychodynamic (27%) and the structural (21%) approaches. Another important point was the fact that the majority of respondents reportedly sought supervision.

Comparably, Phillips (1996) interviewed 12 New Zealand family therapists and found that practitioners regarded supervision as paramount and referred to it as important in "keeping" the therapists involved focused and most importantly accountable (p.127).

Additionally, a survey conducted in Australia of members of the Victorian Association of Family Therapists, contrasted the study carried out in Utah, stating that family therapy and family therapy supervision is a mainly female occupation, with 89% of its respondents being females. Comparably, an older working force was practising family therapy, with more than half of the respondents aged between 45 and 55. Respondent

reported having an average of 15 years of experince as MFT and being involved in supervision. This same survey reported that the common theoretical framework underpinning supervision were systemic theories, and that psychodynamic theory was also prominent (Cocking and Miocevic, 2001).

Booth's study showed (1996) that the majority of therapists (N = 204) were primarily adhering to the systems paradigm or practising from a combination of paradigms including primarily systems and social constructionist approaches. The approaches under the social constructionism paradigm seemed to be used by a smaller but significant percentage of therapists (13.7%).

Similarly, in a study about common factors across theories in marriage and family therapy, Blow & Sprenkle (2001) required experienced panellists (N=35) to rank the top three theories that they adhered to in their work. Integrative therapy was the first choice of 32% of the panellists; 16% chose solution focused therapy; 11% chose structural therapy and 6% chose Bowenien therapy. The theoretical orientation of the panellists as a whole did not appear to reflect traditional models of family therapy such as strategic and structural theories, although the author believe that those who selected integrative approaches surely would have been utilising these traditional forms in some way in their work.

In 1998, Simmons & Doherty advanced to investigate whether academic background is associated with differences in practice patterns and client outcomes. Clinical members of the AAMFT with academic training in psychology, social work, counselling and marriage and family therapy were compared on a wide range of clinical practice variables, and their clients were surveyed about their satisfaction with therapy and their outcomes. Findings indicate similar practice patterns and client outcomes across all four disciplinary groups.

Clearly, the aforementioned studies signaled that family therapy practitioners at the time surveyed were mainly middle aged, had been practicing for an average of 14 years, and were engaging in short term therapy. Practitioners seem to spend about the same amount of time in individual therapy as in couples and family therapy combined. Academic background was not found to be indicative of client outcome. MFTs treat a wide range of severe clinical problems, including relationship problems, parent-child problems, depression, anxiety and adjustment disorders. Mainly systemic therapies were influencing practice, with a trend to more integrative and social constructionist approaches.

Following this evidence it seems relevant to review some conclusive studies on MFT outcome that may be influencing practice.

Dunn and Schwebel (1995) completed a meta-analytic review of 15 methodologically rigorous published outcome studies on marital therapy. They found that behavioural marital therapy, cognitive-behavioural marital therapy, and insight oriented marital

therapy were all more effective than no treatment in bringing about change in spouse's behaviour and in the general assessment of the marriage relationship. According to the latest meta-analysis of the findings of 163 outcome studies on the effectiveness and efficacy of marriage and family therapy, Shadish et al. (1995) conclude that, based mainly on efficacy studies, marital/family therapy clients did better than untreated control group clients. While different marital and family therapy approaches were all found to be superior to no treatment, the reviewers found no single model's efforts stood out over others. It should be noted, however, that one approach may "fit" certain families better than do others, or work best for certain presenting problems. In some cases, a combination of therapeutic efforts (psychoeducational, medication, individual therapy, and group therapy) may be the treatment of choice (Pinsof et al., 1996).

It appears lately that the field as a whole has been moving away from the pure practices of one model of MFT. Social constructionist approaches have also been gaining many advocates and, the studies previously addressed are reflective of these trends. Outcome studies to date show no one therapeutic approach is better than the next. Therefore, practitioners are possibly being lead into either selecting freely form a variety of models, selectively borrowing techniques from different approaches or using especially designed integrative models (Nichols & Schwartz, 2001). However, research is not keeping up with the multiple theoretical ideas making empirically documented evidence scarce.

Research in Family Therapy

Sprenkle & Moon (1996) noted that "the chasm between research and clinicians seems as wide as ever" (p.3). Many reasons have been offered for this lack of collaboration. Some clinicians feel that much research is insignificant to practice (Cohen, Sargent, & Sechrest, 1986; Johnson & Sandberg 1999) or that a systemic perspective is not compatible with research (Lebow, 1988). Kennedy (1998) suggested that clinicians also ignore research because the results have not appeared conclusive enough, or because the outcome of clinical intervention has been the sole focus of the study with insufficient attention to the treatment process. Clinicians may also reject research when the research contains too many variables to make the results interpretable and applicable to practice.

Furthermore, Nichols and Schwartz (2001) explained another issue that may be influencing this "chasm". They believe that "while much of the 1990s has been guided by postmodernism's mistrust of traditional science, groups of serious, full time clinician/researchers have been conducting unabashedly modernist studies of families and family therapy.... In conducting rigorous, quantitative research, they are swimming against the postmodern current of research skepticism" (p. 330). Skeptical postmodernists believe that the subjectivity of the human individual impedes the possibility of science discovering objective truth. They also view objectivity as an illusion of science subverting those of oppressed groups. Postmodern attacks on empirical

research are based on the belief that there is no true objectivity. Therefore, some sceptical postmodernists contend the scientific method is not possible.

Of equal importance to this study are the research styles that MFT engage in. As Pinsof and Wynne (1995) affirmed, for family therapy to mature as a discipline and become respectable in the mental health field, it must be able to authenticate its efficacy through high quality research.

Johnson & Sandberg (1999) assessed the willingness of MFTs to participate in research projects and their use of research in clinical practice. Results indicated a moderate level of research involvement among practitioners. However, the authors explain that clinical research is often plagued by lack of co-operation among clinicians. For example, having too few clinicians respond favorably to a request to respond to survey questionnaires that ask questions about their clinical practice often compromises research. Although most social survey research studies have at least a 50% response rate, the response rate among clinicians is often considerably lower. A 34% response rate was obtained in Doherty & Simmon's (1996) USA national survey of MFTs, which they indicated was a "typical response rate for professionals" (p.12).

The believe of some MFT approaches that research is not compatible with their philosophies, as well as the idea that research is not consistent with clinical practice, results in unwillingness of clinicians to partake in research. The lack of validated

information is most likely having a consequence on the approaches individuals seeking training and supervision are selecting.

Training and Supervision

Considering the rapid growth of MFT, the availability of training and supervisory programs has increased considerably in the last two decades. Sprenkle and Wilkie (1996) mentioned that the types of programs available in family therapy supervision and training take place in two major settings, academic degree-granting programs, and free-standing institutes. However, Phillips (1996) evidenced that on-the-job training and supervision was probably the main setting among trainees in New Zealand, and attributed this phenomenon to the overlap between mental health professionals' roles. While family therapy is regarded by some as a distinctive discipline with specialised training, others emphasise that family therapy is not limited to the practice of family therapists, nor is it all that family therapists do (Wynne, McDaniel & Weber, 1987).

In an effort to adjust to higher demands, trainees today are likely to be exposed to a number of current issues in the field of family therapy. These issues may include, but are not limited to, raised consciousness regarding the role played by ethnic, social class, and cultural factors in influencing outlooks and behaviour (Falicov, 1988). Greater sensitivity to feminist thinking and its relevance for overcoming trainee gender-bias and sex-role-stereotyped thinking is also advocated (Avis, 1996; Tamasese & Waldegrave,

1993). Knowledge of family law as well as relevant ethical issues (Welfel, 1998); and a familiarity with both simple cybernetics and second-order cybernetic ideas regarding therapists' roles and influences in changing family patterns is considered a necessity too. Awareness and sensitivity to these issues are necessary to better differentiate among universal, transcultural, culture-specific, or idiosyncratic family behaviours.

Attention to culture is yet another indication of the expanding view of family therapy. However, at this point it seems important to mention the fact that minorities are still under-represented in training programs and in mental health professions in general. This is of great concern (Garret personal Communication, May 2002). Efforts are being made to train more minorities, but that addresses only part of the problem. What is needed is an acknowledgement and appreciation of how minority families are different from and similar to non-minority families, and an acceptance of "not knowing everything" (Green, 1998). Waldegrave affirms "practices that do not address cultural meaning webs in informed ways are racist" (1998, p. 412).

All family therapy training programs, of whatever theoretical orientation, recognize that both conceptual knowledge and clinical skills need to be acquired and integrated in the process of becoming a professional (Todd & Storm, 1997). Nichols et al. (1990), argue that learning to think of human problems in systems terms remains axiomatic today, although not nearly the radical idea it was three decades ago when first proposed by family therapy pioneers. The growing influence of social constructionist thinking has

begun to impact many contemporary-training programs (Anderson & Swim, 1993, 1995; Bobele, Gardner and Biever, 1995. Cantwell & Holmes, 1994 sustain that any training to be successful must model within their program the same value trainees will then exercise with their clients. Social constructionist approaches advocate a collaborative, non-expert stance to therapy and suggest that there is no right way of doing therapy. Consequently, trainees are encountered by a myriad of decisions regarding their professional careers sometimes with no substantial evidence as to the effectiveness of the options available to them.

The ability to measure affiliation with a particular theoretical orientation or paradigm is important in assessing changes in orientations and evaluating effects of educational and training programs on therapists. Studies conducted by Norcross and Prochaska, (1983) and Norcross and Wogan, (1983) on the degree of utilisation of different clinical orientations and the particular characteristics involved in selecting a particular orientation, provide evidence that training experiences have a powerful influence on a clinician's choice of theoretical orientation. It has also been reported that a supervisor's theoretical orientation influences a trainee's subsequent choice of orientation (Guest & Beutler, 1988; Steiner, 1978).

Some studies reviewed by Sprenkle & Wilkie, (1996 p. 356) examining the theoretical orientations of supervisors-trainers suggested that research in the early 1980s indicated that the majority adopted an eclectic or integrative view (Quinn & Davidson, 1984).

However, later findings indicated a decline in eclecticism as an orientation, with a major shift towards systems based approaches. Regarding training the McKenzie et al. (1986) and Saba and Liddle (1986) studies found that supervisors were using the structural and strategic models most frequently. However, Sprenkle and Wilkie predict "contemporary preferences would include a large percentage of trainers with orientations influenced by social constructionism, including narrative, solution-focused and collaborative language systems models" (p. 356).

Looking closer at this issue some studies have explored aspects that may influence a practitioner's theoretical orientation. For example, Norcross and Prochaska (1983) asked psychologists to rate on a five point Likert scale how much each variables from a list influenced their current theoretical orientation. Graduate training (3.6), postgraduate training (3.4), and internship experience (3.3) were rated as having some influence (3.0), to a strong influence (4.0), and were ranked third, fourth, and sixth most influential on use of theoretical orientation. Clinical experience and values and personal philosophy were the two highest rated variables influencing selection of theoretical orientation.

Comparably, a study conducted by Kolevzon, Sowers-Hoag and Hoffman (1989) suggests that the personality attributes of the family therapist do play a role in predicting adherence to the belief and action systems unique to a particular approach.

Another study conducted by Cummings and Lucchese (1978) underscored the importance of educational and training experiences in their discussion of adopting a particular

theoretical orientation. They indicated that a student's ideas about orientation are influenced considerably in graduate school and that pre- and post-degree practicum or internship training exerts much influence on adherence to an orientation through contact with clinical supervisors, directors of training institutes, and more experienced clinicians.

In an article about factors involved in a clinician's adherence to a particular orientation, Cummings and Lucchese (1978) also stated that "first-hand clinical experience and supervisory encounters serve as primary sources of influence in the cultivation of an orientation" (p. 326). They went on to say that a beginning therapist is greatly influenced by the theoretical preferences of clinical supervisors at the internship and other training sites so that competing or inherently different approaches may be much less likely to impact on the therapist.

Booth (1996) indicated that the paradigm preferred by the therapist's current or most recent supervisor was significantly related to paradigm adherence. This finding was also consistent with prior research. Guest and Beutler (1988) found that the most consistent predictor of a therapist's theoretical orientation at three and five years following the training experience was the orientation of supervisors during training. In addition, Sundland (1977) discussed several studies showing some degree of relationship between a trainee's choice and utilisation of a theoretical orientation and the supervisor's theoretical orientation.

Variables Related to Theoretical Orientation Preference

As suggested by Sundland, (1977), and studied by Booth and Cottone (2000), other variables found to be related to the adherence to a particular theoretical orientation included age, gender and years of clinical experience. Some studies reviewed (Norcross & Prochaska, 1982a, 1982b; Prochaska & Norcross, 1983; Sprenkle, Keeney, & Sutton, 1982; Steiner, 1978; Strano, 1989; Wogan & Norcross, 1985) reported that older therapists were more likely to identify psychodynamic therapies as the primary clinical orientation, while younger therapists selected newer approaches such as cognitive, behavioural, and systems approaches. Similar results were evidenced when comparing experience level. More experienced therapists endorsed psychodynamic approaches significantly more, than less experienced therapists. However, gender differences in adherence to specific theories are not clear, although some evidence exists that males report preferences for more directive and structured therapies and techniques, than females (Strano, 1989; Wogan & Norcross, 1985).

Booth (1996 p. ii) found that the current or most recent supervisor's preferred paradigm was the only individual predictor variable showing some ability to significantly discriminate between paradigm adherence groups. She mentioned that the set of predictor variables (age, gender, years of clinical experience and supervisor's preferred paradigm), only accounted for 16.5% of the variance in paradigm adherence. However,

this was seen as having some practical significance in explaining choice and utilisation of theoretical framework.

Summary

A profile of the "typical" marriage and family therapists has been identified. MFT practitioners are usually middle aged, engage in short term therapy and treat a variety of client issues. Outcome studies have concluded that no one approach seems to work better than others do, but that a combination of therapeutic efforts may be the treatment of choice. Following this point, the importance of research in family therapy has been discussed. Training and supervision experiences appear to be most influential on a clinician's choice of theoretical orientation. Other characteristics that seem to influence MFT practitioners' preference of a particular theoretical orientation include age, gender, personality attributes and years of clinical experience. Systems approaches were primarily influencing a majority of therapists, however integrative and social constructionist approaches were seen to be gaining many advocates. Based on the main findings of the studies reviewed here the following hypotheses for this study have been constructed.

Hypotheses

- Marriage and family therapists in Australasia will more likely adhere to a social constructionist paradigm than to a psychological or systems paradigm.
- Australian and New Zealand MFT practitioners will more likely adhere to a social constructionist paradigm than their counterparts in the USA.
- 3) Women will more likely have a stronger adherence to the social constructionist or the systems paradigm, and a weaker adherence to the psychological paradigm than men will.
- 4) Marriage and family therapists in private practice will have a stronger adherence to the psychological paradigm; whereas therapists involved in public practice will have a stronger adherence to the systems or social constructionist paradigm.
- 5) Strength of adherence to the psychological paradigm will be directly related to age, years of clinical experience, years working in MFT and number of sessions.
- 6) Strength of adherence to the social constructionist or to the systems paradigm will be directly related to age, years of clinical experience, years in MFT, weekly contact hour, and inversely related to number of treatment sessions.
- Marriage and family therapists with a professional qualification in psychology will more likely have a stronger adherence to the psychological paradigm and a weaker adherence to the systems or the social constructionist paradigms than marriage and family therapists with a professional qualification in social work, counselling or psychotherapy.

- 8) Marriage and family therapists' strength of adherence to either the psychological, systems, or social constructionist paradigm's will be directly related to their supervisors' preferred paradigm.
- 9) Strength of adherence to a particular paradigm will gradually increase from the pregraduate supervisor's preferred paradigm to the postgraduate supervisor's preferred paradigm and then to the most recent or current supervisor's preferred paradigm.

CHAPTER 5

METHODS

This study was a partial replication of Therese Booth's (1996) study, and the demographic questionnaire was expanded incorporating questions used by (Doherty and Simmons (1996) in their survey of a USA National sample. It was adapted for New Zealand and Australian participants. The objectives of the present study were to explore characteristics of marriage and family therapy (MFT) practitioners in New Zealand and Australia, in order to learn about theoretical framework trends in MFT practice and to compare these findings with Booth's study as well as other relevant overseas findings.

Participants

The present sample comprised 445 adults currently practising marriage and family therapy in New Zealand and Australia. One hundred and eight questionnaires were returned by the deadline. Of these 15 were unusable, (e.g. circling more than one response for various items) resulting in a total of 88 participants, representing a 20% response rate. Five questionnaires were returned unanswered and a note was attached explaining reasons for not participating in the study.

Table 1.

Demographics of the Sample (N=88)

Characteristics	Sample (N=88). Participants		
Age			
	M	48.6	
	SD	9.5	
	Minimum	27.0	
	Maximum	70.0	
Gender		n	%
	Male	40	45.5
	Female	48	54.5
Ethnicity			
	NZ Pakeha	29	33.0
	Australian	20	22.7
	European	24	27.3
	American	3	3.4
	Maori	2	2.3
	Pacific Islander	3 2 3 3	3.4
	Asian		3.4
	No response	4	4.5
Qualification			
	Undergraduate	17	19.3
	Postgraduate	69	78.4
	No response	2	2.3
Discipline of			
Qualification			
	Social work	13	14.8
	Psychology	18	20.5
	Counselling	28	31.8
	Psychotherapy	23	26.1
	Other	6	6.8
Primary work setting			
	Private practice	46	52.3
	Public practice	42	47.7

As shown in Table 1., the sample (N=88) consisted of 48 females (54.5%) and 40 males (45.5%). The age of respondents ranged from 27 years to 70 years, with a mean age of 48.56 years and a standard deviation of 9.5. Twenty-nine participants (33%) identified themselves as New Zealander or "Pakeha". Twenty (22.7%) identified themselves as

Australian, and 24 (27.3%) as European, comprising 83% of the sample. The remaining 11 (12.5%) participants were Americans, Maoris, Pacific Islanders and Asians. Four participants (4.5%) gave no response regarding their ethnic identity. Seventeen participants (19.3%) reported having an undergraduate qualification, while 69 participants (78.4%) held a postgraduate qualification.

Participants were asked about the field or discipline of their highest qualification and the responses are as follows: 13 participants (14.8%) obtained a degree in social work; 18 participants' (20.5%) degrees were in psychology; 28 participants (31.8%) reported a degree in counselling; 23 participants (26.1%) had degrees in psychotherapy (including, child, family and or adult); 6 participants (6.8%) indicated "other". The participants were also asked about the primary setting in which they worked. This question was recoded into private or public practice with 46 participants (52.3) working primarily in a private setting and 42 participants (47.7%) working in a public setting (Table1).

Instruments

The Paradigm Adherence Scale (PAS) (Appendix A) developed by Booth in 1996, was used as the main instrument for this research. The PAS was selected to partially replicate Booth's study and also to adapt this research to best fit the New Zealand and Australian Family Therapist population. Another aim was to compare and contrast findings with regards to emerging trends and predictor variables.

The PAS is a nominal scale, which produces a forced choice outcome of paradigm adherence: psychological, systems, social constructionist, or a combination of these. The PAS consists of 24 items targeting a therapist's theoretical assumptions and beliefs related to marriage and family therapy, as well as their techniques and the interventions they employ in clinical practice (Booth & Cottone, 2000). Participants are required to select the statement which best indicates their current practice among three responses to a single question.

Items on the PAS consist of a statement describing a clinical situation (involving a family, couple, or individual) faced by a therapist. Three responses are listed in multiple-choice format. The responses include statements regarding assumptions, beliefs, and clinical techniques consistent with each of the three paradigms utilised in marriage and family therapy. Participants are advised to respond to each item according to how they

primarily operate with the majority of their clients on a theoretical and practical level (Booth, 1996).

To establish content validity for the PAS, Booth (1996, p. 53) first consulted a panel of four experts in family therapy. The panel of experts made recommendations related to appropriate theoretical terminology, created clear distinctions among item responses reflective of the systems and social constructionist paradigms, and also made general comments about the appropriateness and clarity of items. Second, Booth gave two separate groups of graduate students a revised pool of 30 items from the PAS. Based on the first group's responses to items on the PAS, scores that categorised adhering to one of the three paradigms were decided (Booth, 1996 p. 56). For the second group a validity check was included in this administration of the PAS. Participants were first asked to complete the PAS, then they were instructed to select the paradigm description which best represented their primary approach with clients. Approximately two thirds of the participants demonstrated a match between the primary paradigm selected and the paradigm with the greatest item score.

Booth also obtained a measure of test-retest reliability, by conducting a pilot study with an experienced group of mental health professionals (N=16). Agreement between individual item responses from the first to second administration of the instrument (usually two to three weeks) was tallied for each subject. The average percentage agreement of item responses across subjects was 74%.

A final revision to the PAS was completed based on an item-by-item analysis using data obtained from the pilot study. Several items were deleted based on this review, resulting in a total of 24 items in the final version of the PAS (Booth & Cottone, 2000 p.332-333).

In addition to the PAS, a Demographic Data Questionnaire inquiring about background and clinical practice information was used in the present study (Appendix B). The questions asked included age, gender and ethnic identity. Inquires were made with regards to the highest qualification earned, academic degree discipline (psychology, counselling, social work, psychiatry, education), years of clinical practice, years working in MFT and continuing education units in MFT. Work setting, primary modes of practice, caseload, weekly contact hours and average number of sessions were also included in the questionnaire as well as most frequently seen presenting problems and most frequent "disorders" dealt with. A question inquiring about participant's confidence in treating different client populations was also included. The last question inquired about the participants' clinical supervisor's theoretical framework. A brief description of the psychological, systems, and a social constructionist paradigm were presented. For this question, the participant was advised to indicate which description best represented the perspective of the clinical supervisor, based on what occurred during supervision sessions with the primary pre-graduate practicum/internship supervisor, the postgraduate supervisor, and the current or most recent clinical supervisor.

Procedure

The target population for the present study included mental health professionals currently practicing marriage and family therapy in New Zealand and Australia. An application for human ethics consideration was peer-reviewed by Massey University academic staff in the School of Psychology before the research was undertaken.

Four hundred and forty five letters and emails (Appendix C) were sent to potential participants, whose names and addresses were publicly available inviting them to take part in this study. In addition, advertisements inviting practitioners to participate were published in the Australian and *New Zealand Journal of Family Therapy* (June 2001) as well as in the newsletter of the New Zealand Association of Counselors (July 2001).

Included in the mailing the participants received a cover letter (Appendix C) explaining the purpose of the study, a statement of informed consent. Attached were a copy of the PAS, a copy of the demographic information questionnaire, as well as a prepaid return envelope. The participant was advised not to record his or her name on these materials.

The statement of informed consent included the rights of the participant and it clarified that after the questionnaires were submitted there was no way of identifying individual participants, making withdrawal from the study at that point impossible. All participants

were offered the opportunity to receive further information about and/or a brief summary of the results of the study.

Four weeks after the first mailing 67 questionnaires were returned, making it necessary to send a follow up note of first mailing. This note was sent to 150 possible participants who were automatically selected at random through the computer from the original mailing list. In addition, and to increase response rates a web page was set up and participants had the option of completing the questionnaire on a hard copy or through the internet http://psych-research.massey.ac.nz/amealla/infopage.html.

By the deadline of November 2001, a total of 103 questionnaires were returned, eight were incomplete and unable to be processed and seven responded repeatedly to more than one choice making them unusable for this research. A remaining 88 questionnaires were completed appropriately.

New Zealand and Australian participants' data were combined and treated as one group.

This was primarily due to the fact that the questionnaire did not ask participants to mention where they were practicing and it was difficult to ascertain where web page responses originated. The limited sample size also contributed to the decision to group both New Zealand and Australian participants together for statistical analyses.

Data Analysis

Data were analysed using descriptive and inferential statistics on SPSS package 10.1 (Coakes & Steed, 2000). Due to missing data and fewer participants than anticipated, three variables were recoded by combining categories. The categories for which data were regrouped include highest qualification earned, discipline of highest qualification and primary work setting. Highest qualification earned, initially covered six options which were then narrowed to two -undergraduate or graduate qualification. Discipline of highest qualification was narrowed from eight options to four, social work, psychology, counselling and psychotherapy. Primary work setting had twelve options that were narrowed down to two, private or public primary work setting.

Following Booth's (1996) procedure, first each participant's PAS questionnaire was scored for adherence to one of the three family therapy paradigms (psychological, systems, or social constructionist) or to a combination of the paradigms. In order for a participant to adhere to one specific paradigm a score consisting of at least 12 responses (50%) reflective of that paradigm was necessary, and no more than eight items (33%) for each of the other paradigms. Participants whose responses did not meet these criteria were classified as the paradigm combination group. (For scoring specifics please see Appendix D).

This first classification of PAS adherence was undertaken to compare the proportions of the present sample falling within each paradigm, with the proportions of Booth's sample. Later, the PAS was scored again according to the number of times that a participant endorsed each of the three paradigms. For example, if a participant endorsed five questions pertaining to the psychological paradigm, 10 pertaining to the systems paradigm and nine pertaining to the social constructionist paradigm, his or her score would be 5, 10 and 9, respectively out of 24. Participants who did not answer an item had their scores prorated on a paradigm to give a raw score out of 24. The purpose of obtaining paradigm adherence scores as continuous variables was to enable more powerful statistical tests on the significance of differences between groups and association between variables to be undertaken with a smaller sample than expected.

Therefore, the criterion variable was the strength of adherence to one of three paradigms.

T-tests of independent means were computed to compare men's and women's paradigm adherence scores and to compare the adherence score of participants in private versus public practice. Correlation coefficients were computed to test the associations of paradigm adherence scores with participant's age, years of clinical experience, years working in marriage and family therapy, weekly contact hours with clients, current family caseload and average number of sessions.

One-way analyses of variance were conducted for paradigm adherence and professional qualification (social work, psychology, counselling, or psychotherapy), as well as for

paradigm adherence and supervisors' preferred paradigms. For each appropriate statistical test of significance of difference, Levene's test for equality of variances was computed.

CHAPTER 6

RESULTS

This chapter presents the results of the study and the data analysis. The characteristics of the sample of participants are described through the presentation of demographic data.

Descriptive statistics related to the variables are included, as well as the results of the correlations and one-way analyses of variance (ANOVA).

Characteristics of the Sample

Data were analysed for the 88 participants who returned completed and usable questionnaires. Means and standard deviations (SD) for the continuous variables, years of clinical experience, years working in family therapy, family case load, weekly contact hours, average number of sessions and continuing education units (CEU) can be seen in Table 2. The number of cases with missing values for a specific variable can be noted by observing the N reported for that variable and subtracting from the total N of 88.

Table 2.Characteristics of the Sample of Marriage and Family Therapy Practitioners

	n	Mean	Std. Deviation	Minimum	Maximum
Years of clinical experience	87	14.77	8.86	2	37
Years working in MFT	87	11.69	7.97	2	37
Family caseload	84	12.30	9.75	1	45
Weekly contact hours	84	22.06	11.81	3	65
Average number of sessions	84	9.45	6.14	3	50
CEU	61	48.67	119.70	0	700

Note: 1. MFT= marriage and family therapists

2. CEU= continuing education units

The mean years of clinical experience (since receiving a graduate degree in a mental health field) for respondents was 14.77 years (SD = 8.86), with a range from two years to 37 years. Years spent working in marriage and family therapy ranged from two to 37, with a mean of 11.69 years (SD = 7.97). The current family caseload ranged from one to 45 families, with a mean of 12.30 families (SD = 9.75). The mean for weekly contact hours is 22.06 hours (SD = 11.81) ranging from three hours to 65 hours a week. Respondents reported working for a mean of 9.45 sessions (SD = 6.14) ranging from three to 50 sessions.

Participants were also asked about the number of continuing education units (CEU) completed in MFT since initial training. Responses show a large variability, with a mean of 48.67 CEU (SD = 119.70), ranging from zero to 700 CEU. This range of variability

may have been related to the characteristics of the participant population, errors in the design of the demographic questionnaire which did not specify whether responses were required in hours or number of workshops or seminars attended. This should be taken into account when observing the standard deviation reported for this variable.

Additionally, a large number of missing values were seen for CEU. Thirty percent of the participants did not indicate a value for number of CEU. Some participants made non-numerical or vague responses to these items (e.g., "a lot," "hundreds," "heaps") left the item blank, or indicated that they had no memory or record of CEU (e.g., "too many to remember," "cannot easily access information"), resulting in a large number of missing values.

Participants were asked to rate their primary mode of practice according to the frequency with which they worked with individuals, children, couples, families, groups and/or a combination of these practice modes. Frequencies and percentages of primary modes of practice can be seen in Table 3.

Table 3.Frequencies and Percentages by Primary Mode of Practice (N=88)

Primary Mode of Practice		Ratings									
	Ofte		Sometimes			Fe	ew		Never	Total	
	<i>n</i>	%	n	%		n	%		n %	,	ı %
Individual	69 (78.4	%) 17	(19	.3%)	2	(2.3	3%)	0		88	(100%)
Child	19 (21.69	%) 36	6 (40	.9%)	25	(28	.4%)	8	(9.1%)	88	(100%)
Couple	41 (46.6	%) 37	(42	.0%)	8	(9.1	%)	0		86	(97.7%)
Family	27 (30.7	%) 42	2 (47	.7%)	18	(20	.5%)	0		87	(98.9%)
Group	2 (2.3	%) 21	(23	.9%)	32	(36	.4%)	25	(28.4%)	80	(90.9%)
Combined	9 (10.2	%) 23	3 (26	5.1%)	27	(30	.7%)	15	(17.0%)	74	(84.1%)

Note: n's vary because not all respondents gave a rating for all modes of practice

From this table it can be seen that individuals are treated with most frequency (often or sometimes) by 97.7% of participants. Couples follow with 88.6% of participants treating them either often or sometimes, whereas families were also treated often or sometimes by 78.8% of respondents.

Problems, Diagnosis and Confidence in Treatment of Specific Populations

In addition to the aforementioned sample characteristics, participants in the present study responded to three questions regarding most frequently seen presenting problems, most frequent disorders dealt with and their confidence in treating specific groups of people. Percentages for each question were computed according to the number of respondents. Frequencies and percentages for each of these questions are presented in Tables 10, 11 and 12, respectively (Appendix E).

When asked about presenting problems seen by marriage and family therapy practitioners (n=86), responses indicate that marital problems (81.4%), depression (79.1%), grief and loss (76.7%) and communication problems (74.4%) were among the issues most frequently encountered. Parent-child problems, child behaviour, alcohol and/or drug problems and anxiety were also frequently seen by more than 50% of the sample. Whereas financial problems was the issue least presented to this sample (17.4%).

The disorders most frequently treated by this sample (n=52) included depressive disorders (82.7%), posttraumatic stress disorders (63.5%), alcohol and drug related disorders (63.5%) and anxiety disorders (59.6%). Psychotic disorders (15.4%) and schizophrenia (13.5%) were the disorders less frequently treated by the respondents.

Participants were also asked to indicate their confidence in treating specific populations. These populations included gender, developmental stages, homosexual identification, physical impairment or mental disabilities and specific ethnic groups. Males (100%) were treated with slightly more confidence than females (96.3%). Adults were treated with confidence by 98.8% of the sample, adolescents by 79.0%, children by 71.6%, and elderly clients by 56.8%. Homosexual females and homosexual males were treated with confidence by 75.3% and 71.6% of respondents, respectively. Clients with physical impairments were treated with confidence by 79.0% of respondents whereas people with intellectual disabilities by 40.7%. New Zealand European or Pakeha (96.3%) and Australian European (87.7%) clients were treated with more confidence by this sample followed by Maori (46.9%) and Pacific island (42.0%) clients. Asians (30.9%), Australian Aboriginals (19.8%) and Torres Straight Islanders (12.3%) were treated with confidence by a smaller percentage of the sample (Table 12).

Paradigm Adherence and Supervisor's Preferred Paradigm

Comparisons with Booth's (1996) Paradigm Adherence and Supervisor's Preferred Paradigm Results

Paradigm adherence and supervisor's preferred paradigm results are reported for both the present study and Booth's (1996) study in Tables 4 and 5. These studies are reported together to highlight similarities and differences between samples. Booth's sample is described in order to make clear comparisons.

Participants (N = 204) in Booth's (1996) study came from a diversity of mental health disciplines which were represented in a fairly even fashion. These included psychology, marriage and family therapy, social work and counselling. The group of respondents were middle aged (M = 54.7 years), evenly distributed in terms of gender, with slightly more doctoral degrees (55.4%) than master's degrees (44.1). The majority of respondents were engaged in private practice (55.9%) as a primary work setting, with mean 20.96 years of clinical experience.

Table 4.Frequencies and Percentages for Paradigm Adherence Scale Scores.

Paradigm Adherence	Pre	sent Study	Booth	's Study (1996)	
	Frequency	Percent	Frequency	Percent	
Psychological	5	5.7	1	0.5	
Systems	10	11.4	89	43.6	
Social Constructionist	35	39.8	28	13.7	
Paradigm Combination	38	43.2	86	42.2	
Total	88	100.0	204	100.0	

The primary paradigm adherence variable consisted of nominal data. The frequencies and percentages for each group are displayed in Table 4.

In the present study five respondents (5.7%) met the adherence criteria for the psychological paradigm, 10 respondents (11.4%) were classified into the systems paradigm group and 35 participants (39.8%) met the criteria for the social constructionist paradigm group. The remaining 38 participants (43.2%) were categorised as operating from a combination of paradigms, with no one primary paradigm adherence.

Of the 38 (43.2%) respondents representing the combined paradigm group 67.6% indicated a bimodal item response pattern by selecting the majority (at least 75%) of item

responses associated with the systems and social constructionist paradigms, and choosing item responses associated with the psychological paradigm less than 25% of the time.

Compared to the present study Booth's result showed that one respondent (.5%) met the criteria for the psychological paradigm group, 89 respondents (43.6%) were classified into the systems paradigm group and 28 participants (13.7%) met criteria for the social constructionist paradigm group. A high percentage of respondent 86 (42.2%) were categorised as operating from a combination of paradigms with no one primary paradigm adherence.

Frequencies and percentages for supervisors' preferred paradigm variables (see Appendix B), labelled supervisor 1 (pregraduate supervisor), 2 (postgraduate supervisor), and 3 (most recent supervisor), are listed in Table 5.

Table 5.

Frequencies and Percentages for Supervisor's Preferred Paradigm

			Pres	ent Study	1		Booth's Study (1996)					
Supervisor's Paradigm	Supervisor 1		Supervisor 2		Supervisor 3		Supervisor 1		Supervisor 2		Supervisor 3	
	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%
Psychological	38	(43.2)	24	(27.3)	20	(22.7)	97	(47.5)	43	(21.1)	43	(21.1)
Systems	20	(22.7)	33	(37.5)	24	(27.3)	75	(36.8)	119	(58.3)	76	(37.3)
Social Constructionist	10	(11.4)	15	(17.5)	39	(44.3)	14	(6.9)	23	(11.3)	47	(23.0)
Missing Cases	20	(22.7)	16	(18.2)	5	(5.7)	18	(8.8)	19	(9.3)	38	(18.6)
Total	88	(100)	88	(100)	88	(100)	204	4 (100)	204	(100)	204	4 (100)

As seen in Table 5, in the present study, the psychological paradigm was the preferred paradigm for supervisor 1 for 43.2% of participants (n=38). However, this paradigm was utilised less often by subsequent supervisors since it was chosen by 27.3 % of the participants (n=24) for supervisor 2 and 22.7 for supervisor 3 (n= 20). The systems paradigm was chosen for the pregraduate supervisor (supervisor 1) by 22.7% of respondents (n=20). This figure increased to 37.5% (n=33) for the postgraduate supervisor and then decreased back to 27.3% (n=24) for the current or most recent

supervisor. There was a gradual increase in the utilisation of the social constructionist paradigm by participants' supervisors as this paradigm was chosen by 11.4% of participants (n=10) for supervisor 1, 17.5% of participants (n=15) for supervisor 2, and 44.3% of participants (n=39) for supervisor 3.

For missing values, some participants left the item blank or made comments such as "I did not have one" or "not applicable".

By comparison, in Booth's study (1996) the psychological paradigm was the preferred paradigm for supervisor 1 for 47.5% of the participants (n=97), but again subsequent supervisors utilised this paradigm less often since it was chosen by 21.1% of the participants (n=43) for supervisor 2 and supervisor 3. The systems paradigm was chosen for the pre-graduate supervisor (supervisor 1) by 36.8% (n=75) of respondents, increasing to 58.3% (n=119) for the post graduate supervisor and then decreased back to 37.3% (n=76) for the most recent supervisor. The social constructionist paradigm also saw a gradual increase in its utilisation by participants' supervisors. This paradigm was chosen by 6.95 (n=14) of respondent for the pre-graduate supervisor, 11.3% (n=23) of respondent for the post graduate supervisor 2, and 23.0% (n=47) of respondent for the most recent supervisor.

Statistical Analyses for Paradigm Adherence

In order to test the research hypothesis, t-tests and analysis of variance procedures were computed on the paradigm adherence data using SPSS 10.1. The dependent variable in these analyses of variance was paradigm adherence. Men's paradigm adherence scores were compared with women's. Comparisons were also made for participant's primary mode of practice, discipline of highest qualification earned, and their pregraduate, postgraduate and most recent supervisor's preferred paradigm.

Table 6. *Means and Standard Deviations of Males and Females Preferred Paradigm (N=88)*

Paradigm Adherence	Tot	al		Ma	Males Fe			emales			
	n	M	SD	n	M	SD	n	M	SD	t (df=1)	
Psychological	88	4.17	3.80	48	4.49	3.71	40	3.78	3.92	0.87	
Systems	88	7.99	3.63	48	8.47	3.76	40	7.42	3.43	1.36	
Social Constructionist	88	11.81	4.96	48	11.04	4.74	40	12.75	5.11	-1.62	

Note: 1. Scores on each paradigm range from 0 to 24.

As seen in Table 6, there were no significant differences between men's and women's mean paradigm adherence scores. Therefore, the remaining analyses of data were conducted for the men's and women's scores combined.

^{2.} All t values are not significant (p > .05)

From Table 7, it can be seen that there were no significant differences between participants practising in a private or in a public setting.

Table 7. Means and Standard Deviations of Preferred Paradigm Relating to Private and Public Practice (N=88)

Paradigm Adherence	Tot	al		Private Practice Public practice					tice	11.00	
	n	M	SD	n	M	SD	n	M	SD	t (df=1)	
Psychological	88	4.17	3.80	46	4.49	3.79	42	3.82	3.83	0.82	
Systems	88	7.99	3.63	46	8.52	3.60	42	7.42	3.63	1.43	
Social Constructionist	88	11.81	4.96	46	10.95	4.93	42	11.82	4.96	-1.73	

Note: 1. Scores on each paradigm range from 0 to 24. 2. All t values are not significant (p> .05).

Correlation coefficients were computed for each of the three paradigm adherence scores using the variables of participant's age, years of clinical experience, years working in marriage and family therapy, weekly contact hours with families, current family caseload and average number of sessions.

Strength of adherence to the psychological paradigm was negatively related (r=-. 69, p<. 001) to adherence to the social constructionist paradigm. Adherence to a systems paradigm was also negatively related (r= -. 63, p<. 001) to the social constructionist paradigm. These two negative correlations indicate that the greater the adherence to the psychological paradigm or the systems paradigm, the less the adherence to a social constructionist paradigm and vice versa.

In addition, the systems paradigm strength of adherence scores were found to be significantly and negatively correlated with family caseload scores (r= -. 26, p<. 05), indicating that the stronger that the participants adhered to a systems paradigm, the fewer weekly caseloads were reported by them. Age, years of clinical experience, years working in family therapy and weekly contact hours were not significantly correlated with any paradigm adherence.

From Table 8, it can be seen that there were no significant differences between participants' professional qualification on any of the three mean paradigm adherence scores.

Table 8. *Means and Standard Deviations of Participants' Preferred Paradigm and Professional Qualification (N=82)*

Paradigm Adherence		n	M	SD	F (df=3,78)
	Professional Qualification	Sec. 1			
Psychological					3.35
rsychological	Social work	13	3.38	3.73	
	Psychology	18	6.39	5.08	
	Counselling	28	4.28	3.66	
	Psychotherapy	23	2.83	2.27	
Systems					.55
7	Social work	13	7.15	2.44	
	Psychology	18	7.67	2.97	
	Counselling	28	7.61	3.36	
	Psychotherapy	23	8.48	3.65	
Social Constructionist					1.69
	Social work	13	12.46	4.65	
	Psychology	18	9.17	5.23	
	Counselling	28	11.50	4.76	
	Psychotherapy	23	12.00	4.18	

One-way ANOVAs were computed in order to compare the mean paradigm adherence scores for each of the supervisors' preferred paradigms. As shown in Table 9, for the pregraduate supervisor the mean score of psychosocial, systems or social constructionist paradigm adherence was not significantly related to the supervisor's preferred paradigm. However, for the post-graduate and most recent supervisors preferred paradigm, one of the three paradigms was significantly related to the supervisors preferred paradigm.

From Table 9, it can be seen that for participants' post-graduate supervisor (2), the mean score for psychological adherence was significantly greater if the supervisor had a psychological orientation (M=6.46, SD=3.35) than if the supervisor had a systems (M=2.96, SD=3.01) or a social constructionist (M=3.60, SD=4.37) orientation, F (2,69) =7.54, P<.01. If participants' post-graduate supervisor (2), preferred a psychological orientation the mean score for adherence to systems paradigm (M=8.89, SD=2.36) was significantly greater than if the supervisor preferred a social constructionist (M=5.47, SD=3.42) approach, F (2,69) =4.44, P<.05. It was also evident that the mean score for social constructionist paradigm adherence was significantly greater if the supervisor preferred a systems (M=13.28, SD=4.90) or a social constructionist approach (M=14.93, SD=5.36), F (2,69) =11.70, P<.001.

Also shown in Table 9, if participants' most recent or current supervisor (3) preferred a psychological orientation, the mean score (M=6.22, SD= 4.80) of psychological paradigm adherence was significantly greater than if the supervisor preferred a social

constructionist paradigm (M=3.02, SD= 3.38), F (2,80) =5.16, p<.01. The mean score for a systems paradigm adherence was significantly greater if the supervisor preferred either a psychological (M=9.29, SD= 3.37), or a systems paradigm (M=8.66, SD= 3.53) than if the supervisor preferred a social constructionist paradigm (M=6.56, SD= 3.15), F (2,80) =5.56, p<.01.

Additionally, if the most recent supervisor (3) preferred a social constructionist approach the mean score of social constructionist paradigm adherence was significantly greater (M= 14.42, SD= 4.73) than if the supervisor followed a psychological or systems approach, F(2,80) = 14.48, p < .001.

Table 9.ANOVA of Participants' Mean Paradigm Adherence Scores and Supervisors' Preferred Paradigm.

Paradigm Adherence			Superviso	r 1 (Pre-g	raduate)	
	Supervisors' Paradigm	n	M	SD	F (df=2,65)	Bonferroni/Games- Howell comparison
Psychological					0.82	
	(1) Psychological	38	4.84	3.57		
	(2) Systems	20	3.48	4.27		
	(3) Social Constructionist	10	4.48	4.06		
	Total	68	4.38	3.81		
Systems					2.22	
	(1) Psychological	38	8.62	3.70		
	(2) Systems	20	6.90	3.21		
	(3) Social Constructionist	10	6.46	4.43		
	Total	68	7.80	3.74		
Social Constructionist					2.92	
	(1) Psychological	38	10.54	4.35		
	(2) Systems	20	13.62	5.77		
	(3) Social Constructionist	10	13.06	5.31		
	Total	68	11.82	5.08		

Table 9 continues...

Paradigm Adherence			Superviso	r 2 (Post-	graduate)	
	Supervisors' Paradigm	n	M	SD	F (df=2,69)	Bonferroni/Games- Howell comparison
Psychological					7.54**	(1) > (2) = (3)
	(1) Psychological	24	6.46	3.35		
	(2) Systems	33	2.96	3.01		
	(3) Social Constructionist	15	3.60	4.37		
	Total	72	4.26	3.74		
Systems					4.44**	(1) > (3)
	(1) Psychological	24	8.89	2.36		
	(2) Systems	33	7.76	4.16		
	(3) Social Constructionist	15	5.47	3.42		
	Total	72	7.66	3.67		
Social Constructionist					11.70***	(1) > (2) = (3)
	(1) Psychological	24	8.64	2.66		
	(2) Systems	33	13.28	4.90		
	(3) Social Constructionist	15	14.93	5.36		
	Total	72	12.10	5.02		

Table 9 continues...

Paradigm Adherence			Superviso	or 3 (Mos	t recent)	
	Supervisors' Paradigm	n	М	SD	F (df=2,80)	Bonferroni/Games- Howell comparison
Psychological					5.16**	(1) > (3)
	(1) Psychological	20	6.22	4.80		
	(2) Systems	24	4.64	3.07		
	(3) Social Constructionist	39	3.02	3.38		
	Total	83	4.26	3.87		
Systems			18		5.56**	(1) = (2) > (3)
	(1) Psychological	20	9.29	3.37		
	(2) Systems	24	8.66	3.53		
	(3) Social Constructionist	39	6.56	3.15		
	Total	83	7.82	3.49		
Social Constructionist					14.48***	(1) = (2) < (3)
	(1) Psychological	20	8.39	3.23		
	(2) Systems	24	10.70	4.22		
	(3) Social Constructionist	39	14.42	4.73		
	Total	83	11.89	4.93		

*p<.05, **p<.01, ***p<.001
Note: For Bonferroni/Games-Howell comparisons, only significant differences appear in table.

CHAPTER 7

DISCUSSION

Overview

The first part of this study was descriptive. Thus it was designed to gain information about demographics and to describe the clinical practice of New Zealand and Australian MFT practitioners. The second part of the study was aimed at identifying practitioner's strength of adherence to a particular MFT paradigm. It also explored the relationship between the strength of adherence to each paradigm and specific demographic characteristics and clinical practice characteristics. Supervisors' paradigm preference and its relationship to participants' choice of paradigm were also examined.

The present study was a partial replication of Therese Booth's (1996) study. However, the demographic questionnaire was expanded to incorporate questions used by (Doherty and Simmons (1996) in their survey of a USA National sample of MFTs. Results were focused on the current research but where data were available, appropriate comparisons have been made with relevant overseas studies. Discussion of the main findings of this and of the results from testing the hypotheses as well as the study's limitations and contributions to research are presented.

Summary of Main Findings

Regarding the characteristics of Australian and New Zealand MFT practitioners, their level of training, and their professional qualifications it was found that the sample of participants comprised middle-aged (M = 48.6 years) marriage and family therapy practitioners, with slightly more females than males, self-identified as New Zealander "Pakeha", Australian or European. More had postgraduate (78.4%) than undergraduate degrees (19.3%). Practitioners were evenly engaged in private and public practice. This group of therapists illustrates the multidisciplinary nature of people practising family therapy, with a diversity of mental health disciplines (social work, psychology, counselling and psychotherapy) represented among them (Table. 1).

Participants in the present study had a mean of 15 years of clinical experience since receiving a qualification in mental health and had been practising for a mean of 12 years. The typical MFT practitioner had 22 weekly contact hours and carried an active caseload of 12 clients.

In comparison with similar studies, (Booth, 1996; Doherty and Simmons, 1996; Simmons & Doherty 1995, 1998; Nelson & Palmer 2001) in the USA and in the United Kingdom (Bor et al., 1998), MFT practitioners in all studies seem to have similar characteristics.

They were middle aged (late forties to mid fifties), Caucasian, and highly educated individuals. In all studies but the one conducted by Nelson and Palmer (2001), the

majority of respondents were females. This is particularly true of respondent in the study conducted in Victoria Australia (Cocking & Miocevic, 2000). However, in Booth's study practitioners were equally distributed in terms of gender.

In contrast to the United Kingdom study, more therapists in this study were engaged in private practice. This finding is similar to Booth's sample in that more than half of participants responded to private practice as the primary work setting.

An interesting finding is that family therapy practitioners in Australasia as well as overseas come from a variety of mental health disciplines. As shown in Table 2, the majority of participants responded to social work, psychology, counselling or psychotherapy as being the disciple of their highest qualification. However, very few indicated MFT as their primary discipline, which contrasts to overseas studies in which the majority responded they were MFT trained. Explanations for this may be first, MFT is just being recognised as a separate discipline in Australasia and second, the question was asked with respect to their discipline of highest qualification and not how they identified themselves professionally. It seems possible that more people would have responded to MFT if the question were formulated differently, especially since the mean years practising MFT are similar to what was reported overseas.

Regarding how long practitioners engage in treatment, it was found that participants were mainly practising short-term therapy, treating clients for an average of 9.45 sessions.

Participants in the USA reported seeing clients for an average of 12 sessions, while UK practitioners saw clients from five to eight sessions.

When addressing the question, what primary mode of practice do practitioners engage in, participants responded by ranking the frequency (often, sometimes, few, never) in which they saw individuals, children, couples, families, groups, or a combination of these. Findings indicate that individuals are treated with most frequency (often or sometimes) by 97.7% of participants. Couples follow with 88.6% of participants treating them either often or sometimes, whereas families were also treated often or sometimes by 78.8% of respondents (Table 3). This coincides with Doherty and Simmon's (1996) study indicating that MFT practitioners appear to be treating individuals more often than couples and families.

When asked about the presenting problems most frequently encountered in treatment, each respondent reported more than one. In the present study, as well as overseas the findings indicate that marriage and family therapists see a range of individual, couple, child and family problems. As can be identified in Table 10 (Appendix E), marital problems (81.4%), depression (79.1%), grief and loss (76.75), and communication problems (74.4%) were among the issues most frequently encountered. Parent-child problems, child behaviour, alcohol and/or drug problems and anxiety were also frequently seen by more than 50% of the sample. Similarly in the UK study the most frequent issues were relationship problems, parent-child problems and marital problems.

In addition to describing the presenting problems seen, therapists were asked to identify "DSM-IV" disorders dealt with in their practice. The findings were computed according to the number of respondents (n = 52) and indicated that MFTs deal most frequently with "Axis I" disorders. These include depressive disorders (82.7%), posttraumatic stress disorders (63.5%), alcohol and drug related disorders (63.5%) and anxiety disorders (59.2%). Psychotic disorders and schizophrenia are treated with less frequency (see Table 11, Appendix E).

Of particular interest is the number of participants (41%) who chose not to respond to this particular question. Some participants included notes in the questionnaire indicating that diagnoses were not consistent with their practice (e.g. diagnoses are simply labels, "oppressing" clients). This seems to be consistent with the fact that psychodiagnostic labels are incongruent with both systems and social constructionist philosophies of assessing and treating people.

MFT practitioners reported confidence in treating diverse client populations. These populations included gender, various developmental stages, homosexual identification, physical impairment or mental disabilities and specific ethnic groups. As seen in Table 12 (Appendix E), males were treated with slightly more confidence than females. Adults (98.8%) were treated with confidence by a larger percentage of respondents, than were adolescents (79%) and children (71.6%), and elderly clients (56.8%). Homosexual female

(75.3%) and homosexual male (71.6%) clients were treated with confidence by about the same number of participants. However, clients with physical impairments were treated with confidence by 79% of respondents, whereas people with intellectual disabilities by only 40.7%.

New Zealand European or Pakeha (96.3%) and Australian European (87.7%) clients were treated with confidence by more participants then were Maori (46.9%) and Pacific Island (42.0%) clients. It is relevant to note that Caucasian practitioners seem to be treating Maori and Pacific Islanders with confidence, since only six percent of participants identified as either Maori or Pacific Islanders. Interestingly so, Asian (30.9%) clients were also treated with confidence by more participants than were either, Australian Aboriginals (19.8%) or Torres Strait Islanders (12.3%).

These findings tie in with the available literature, in that mental health professions are representative of the norms and values of the dominant western cultures. Mainstream mental health practices have been established within a culture of philosophy and science that values the individual, the objective, the material and the efficient, above collective collaboration, and spirituality. Both New Zealand and Australia have great multicultural diversity. However, minorities are still under-represented within mental health professions. Only recently has adequate attention been paid to cultural and ethnic differences and needs (e.g. McGoldrick, 1998; Waldegrave & Tamasese, 1993). The need to provide ethical and culturally just services for both clients and trainees has proven

paramount. This can be seen within the initiatives of Michael White and the Dulwich Center in Australia, David Epston and the Family Center in Auckland and Charles Waldegrave and Kiwi Tamasese in the Lower Hutt Family Center with their "Just Therapy" approach, among others.

With respect to what kind of supervisory experience practitioners have and what paradigm their supervisors prefer, participants were requested to answer a question regarding their supervisors' preferred style of therapy. Findings indicate that 77.2% of participants had received supervision during their pregraduate training, 81.8% of participants had received supervision during post-graduate training and 94.3% were currently in supervision. Thus, the present findings show that supervision plays a major part in MFT practice in Australasia and this is consistent with previous reports by Cocking & Miocevic (2001). However, from the way the question was formulated it is difficult to ascertain whether participants responded twice, if their most recent or current supervisor was the same supervisor during their postgraduate or pregraduate training.

When responding to their supervisor's preferred paradigm, an interesting theoretical trend was apparent. As shown in Table 5, the majority of therapists reported the preference of the psychological paradigm by their pre-graduate supervisors (43.2%), the preference of the systems paradigm by their postgraduate supervisor (37.5%) and the use of the social constructionist paradigm by the most recent or current supervisor (44.3%). The fact that 15 years was the average number of years of clinical experience and 12 years was the

average for participants practicing marriage and family therapy, seems to parallel the evolution of the social constructionist paradigm during the 1990s in Australasia (Goldenberg &Goldenberg, 2000; Nichols & Schwartz, 2001 Durrant. 1994.). Additionally, the fact that MFT is a second profession for the majority of therapists in this region, implies that their initial training was in a different discipline and that they were most likely being supervised by people grounded in a psychological paradigm.

These findings add to findings by Booth, which suggest that the psychological paradigm was reported to be used less by the current supervisor, while the social constructionist paradigm seemed to be used more by current supervisors than by pre-graduate supervisors. The implications of this phenomenon will be discussed more extensively in the following section.

Summary

As discussed, this first part of the study highlights the main demographic and practice related characteristics of MFT practitioners in Australasia and situates practice within a wider international framework. All in all, findings clearly show that MFT practitioners are a heterogeneous group of professionals. Most of them are highly qualified and work with a diversity of client populations and attend to a variety of client issues. The majority of respondents identified themselves as Caucasian and this represents the mainstream "western dominant" approach to mental health practised in Australasia. However, the

fact that participants responded to social constructionist approaches as being preferred by their most recent supervisor, shows an attempt at conciliating mainstream mental health approaches with more culturally relevant views of mental health. Additionally, within this sample supervision is seen as an essential tool for training as well as for practice. This connotes the importance of therapists' accountability for the services they provided.

Results of Hypothesis Testing

Based on a review of the literature and the main findings in Booth's study, the following nine hypotheses were tested. The **first** hypothesis was that New Zealand and Australian marriage and family therapists were more likely to select the social constructionist paradigm than a psychological or systemic paradigm. This hypothesis was supported. The result showed that the majority of participants in this study were either classified as primarily adhering to a social constructionist paradigm (39.8%) or using a combination of paradigms (43.2%) in their practice. A surprisingly low percentage of participants (11.4% and 5.7%) were found to be adhering to the systems or psychological paradigms, respectively.

The **second** hypothesis was that Australian and New Zealand MFT practitioners would more likely adhere to a social constructionist paradigm than their counterparts in the USA. This hypothesis was also supported. Whereas the majority of participants in both studies were using a combination of paradigms, a considerably larger percentage of

respondents in the present study (39.8%) were adhering to a social constructionist paradigm, than were USA respondents (13.7%).

It is believed that these two hypotheses were confirmed due to the evident popularity of social constructionist approaches in Australasia. This trend also mirrors the evolution of social constructionists theories to date. Differences in figures can also be attributed partly to the interval between Booth's 1996 study and the current study.

However, the large number of participants practising from a combination of paradigms was consistent with Booth's study, particularly when a bimodal (systems and social constructionist) response selection was detected in both studies. This particular aspect of Booth's findings provided an indication of the trends expected in Australasian MFT practice. Two possible explanations for this were that practitioners are either transitioning from one paradigm to another, or are most likely engaging in "integrated" approaches (Blow & Sprenkle, 2001; Case & Robinson, 1990; Pinsof, Wynne, & Hambright, 1996; Durrant, 1994).

The rapid growth of the field and the need to keep up with society's constant changes, are responsible for the diversity of theoretical frameworks available. This added to the fact that outcome studies to date have shown no one therapeutic approach is better than the next, explains the current tendency to practice from an integration of family therapy models (Blow & Sprenkle, 2001).

approaches, however, focus more on how clients' social and language processes can construct alternatives stories or realities related to their gender, culture, socio-economic and, political context. Treatment can be focused on the individual, the family or larger institutions, and it is also relatively short term. Therefore, it was believed that practitioners in private practice were more likely engaging in individual based therapy, whereas practitioners in public practices were more likely treating families or larger systems.

The **fourth** hypothesis was that marriage and family therapists in private practice would have a stronger adherence to the psychological paradigm, whereas therapists involved in public practice would have a stronger adherence to the systems or social constructionist paradigm. As shown in Table 7, this hypothesis was not confirmed. A possible explanation for this is the way in which therapy is funded and what approaches are seen as most cost-effective by "managed care" decision-makers. Alternatively, clients within the private sector in Australasia may not have the financial resources to afford longer-term therapies, which are evident in that sector of the USA population. However, this issue goes beyond the scope of the present research.

Since the field of MFT in Australasia originated in the 1970s, when systems approaches were surfacing overseas, it seems possible that practitioner's age, years of clinical experience and years working in MFT would be related to paradigm preference. As previously mentioned it is also evident that social constructionist as well as systems

Some earlier studies suggested that gender might be related to the clinical orientations practitioners are more likely to employ in their practice. Strano (1989) and Wogan and Norcross (1985) presented some evidence that males report preferences for more directive and structured therapies and techniques than females. Two other studies also suggested that family therapy is mainly a female occupation. The same studies also found that the main theoretical frameworks underpinning practice were systemic theories (Cocking and Miocevic, 2001; Nichols et al.). Therefore, the **third** hypothesis was that women were more likely to have a stronger adherence to the social constructionist or the systems paradigm, and a weaker adherence to the psychological paradigm than men. As shown in Table 6, this hypothesis was not confirmed, showing no significant differences between gender and paradigm preference in this sample.

In chapter two the characteristics of each of the three paradigms were reviewed as they have developed to date. Each paradigm adopts a different approach to treatment and more importantly to whom they treat. The psychological paradigm focuses on the individual, and assessment and treatment are used to eliminate specific symptoms or behaviours presented by the individual. Treatment usually takes a considerable amount of time, particularly psychodynamic based treatments, which focus on in-depth analyses of intrapersonal issues. In contrast, systems approaches focus on relationships and treatment is focused on the family system. Individual issues are resolved within the family context, and treatment is usually shorter than individual treatment. Social constructionist

approaches are relatively short-term compared to the more traditional individual focused approaches. Thus, the possibility that these characteristics would be related to paradigm preference was assessed.

The **fifth** hypothesis was that strength of adherence to the psychological paradigm would be directly related to age, years of clinical experience, years working in MFT and number of sessions in treatment. This hypothesis was not supported by the findings.

It was hypothesised as well that strength of adherence to the social constructionist or to the systems paradigm would be directly related to age, years of clinical experince, years in MFT, and inversely related to number of treatment sessions and family caseloads. The **sixth** hypothesis was not confirmed. Except for the fact that strength of adherence to the systems paradigm scores were found to be negatively correlated with weekly family caseload scores (r= -. 26, p<. 05), indicating that the stronger the participants adhered to a systems paradigm, the fewer caseloads were reported by them. This can be explained by the fact that MFTs practising from systems paradigms treat families and/or larger systems. Therefore, the client would probably be the entire family or system, which would consume more time and reduce the number of clients a practitioner treats weekly.

The multidisciplinary approach to MFT is representative of the wider mental health profession. In Australasia MFT is a second profession for mental health practitioners.

Practitioners with a primary qualification in psychology, social work, counselling and

psychotherapy have undergone different training as required by their particular discipline.

Therefore, treatment will be conducted in a diversity of ways as evidenced by the different approaches. Hence, this study explored the relationship between professional discipline and strength of adherence to a particular paradigm (Table 8).

The **seventh** hypothesis was that marriage and family therapists with a professional qualification in psychology were more likely to have a stronger adherence to the psychological paradigm. They were also more likely to have a weaker adherence to the systems or the social constructionist paradigm than marriage and family therapists with a professional qualification in social work, counselling or psychotherapy. This hypothesis was not confirmed.

The **eighth** hypothesis was that marriage and family therapists' strength of adherence to either the psychological, systems, or social constructionist paradigms would be directly related to their supervisors' preferred paradigm. This hypothesis was confirmed for the postgraduate and for the most recent or current supervisor's preferred paradigm, but was not supported for the pre-graduate supervisor (Table 9).

The last or **ninth** hypothesis was that strength of adherence to a particular paradigm would gradually increase from the pregraduate supervisor's preferred paradigm to the postgraduate supervisor's preferred paradigm and then to the most recent or current supervisor's preferred paradigm. This hypothesis was supported for strength of adherence

to both the systems and social constructionist paradigms. However, strength of adherence to the psychological paradigm decreased from the post-graduate to the most recent or current supervisor's preferred paradigm.

The eight and ninth hypotheses tested the relationship between practitioners' paradigm adherence and their supervisors' preferred paradigm. Some studies revealed that supervision has an important influence on the theoretical orientation selected by MFTs (Norcross & Prochaska, 1983; Norcross & Wogan, 1983). The supervisor's theoretical orientation is also believed to influence a trainee's subsequent choice of orientation (Cummings & Lucchese, 1978; Guest & Beutler; 1988; Steiner, 1978). Additionally, Booth (1996) found that the most recent supervisor's preferred paradigm is predictive of membership into a particular paradigm adherence group. This study confirmed Booth's findings, and additionally, indicated that not only the most recent supervisor but the post-graduate supervisor has an influence on practitioner's orientation choice.

As previously mentioned, MFT is a second profession for many Australasians thus, practitioners have been previously trained in a different mental health discipline. For many practitioners their post-graduate supervisor might be their initial contact in training as a MFTs. Therefore, the preferred paradigm of their postgraduate supervisor should have more influence on their choice of MFT orientation than their pre-graduate supervisor's orientation. This explanation can also be related to the fact that participants' professional qualifications were not related to their adherence to a particular paradigm

(seventh hypothesis). Following the same logic, and assuming that the most recent or current supervisor is a different supervisor from their previous one, as well as referring back to the fact that participants have been practising for an average of 12 years. It seems probable, that practitioners are currently being supervised by someone with similar interests and ideas about treatment. This suggests that the current supervisor's preferred paradigm is the most influential on practitioner's current practice.

As shown in Table 9, this positive relationship between strength of adherence to a paradigm, and the postgraduate and most recent supervisor's preferred paradigm, was found to be particularly strong for the social constructionist paradigm. This finding once again confirms the acceptance and the enthusiasm for the social constructionist approaches in the Australasian MFT profession.

Limitations

The results of this study must be seen within the limitations it encountered. The present findings are mainly limited by a response rate of 20%. Findings by Johnson & Sandberg (1999) indicate that few clinicians respond favorably to a request to respond to survey questionnaires that ask questions regarding their clinical practice. Doherty & Simmons (1996) reported a 34% response rate, and Booth a 20% response rate. Therefore, a high response rate for this study was not anticipated. However, to increase responses, follow-up notes were posted and participants were given a choice of posting back questionnaires

or responding through a webpage. Despite these attempts the higher response rate desired was not achieved. Still, the number of questionnaires returned were usable (N=88), and allowed a profile of some aspects of MFT practitioners to be established.

The limited sample size also contributed to the decision to group both New Zealand and Australian participants together for statistical analyses. Since a considerable number of participants responded through the web page it was also difficult to ascertain where these responses originated. Therefore, comparisons between New Zealand and Australian practitioners were not conducted. Findings might have applied more to one country than to the other.

Another limitation was the need to regroup specific question items into categories that otherwise might have provided more accurate figures on aspects such as levels of training and employment. Additionally, an accurate representation of practitioners' engagement in continuing education (e.g. workshops, seminars) was limited by the way the question was formulated. Continuing education units (CEUs) can be defined or calculated differently by different institutions, respondents were free to interpret the question, resulting in a large range of answers and missing data.

Using the present research methodology also limited the information participants shared.

Of the three paradigms most practitioners were adhering to the social constructionist paradigm and a quantitative study is at variance to some practitioners' beliefs. Some

practitioners explained this as being a reason for not participating. It is also probable that more practitioners were non-compliant due to methodology and the manner in which they were approached (i.e. low response rates associated with surveys).

This study reinforces the fact that the paradigm preferred by the therapist's postgraduate and current or most recent supervisor is significantly related to paradigm adherence. However, from the findings it cannot be concluded that supervisors preferred paradigm is causative of practitioner's adherence to the same paradigm. It could be possible that the post-graduate supervisor for this sample is the first contact a trainee has had with MFT practice and therefore has mirrored the supervisor's practice. However, the most recent or current supervisor, for a sample with an average of 12 years practising MFT, is more likely to have been chosen based on theoretical orientation.

Contributions to Research and Future Directions

The initiative for this study was to provide marriage and family therapy practitioners in Australasia information about contemporary MFT practice locally and internationally, while establishing a position with regards to a larger international framework. Data gained from this study, used in combination with overseas findings extend this type of research, providing information that describes both similarities and unique aspects of MFT and its practice in Australasia. The comparison of the findings did provide a baseline for future surveys, making it possible to describe the development of marriage

and family therapy in Australasia. Further research comparing Australian and New Zealand practitioners and follow up studies would help clarify how different practitioners experience the therapeutic process and how marriage and family therapy practice is being conducted.

In addition, a qualitative study of supervision experiences could clarify the causality of the practitioner's paradigm preference and supervisor's preferred paradigm. It could also address how supervision is catering for different genders, clients from different ethnic groups, socio-economic levels and socio-political contexts. This would provide useful information that would benefit the development of the field and the welfare of all the people it is accountable for.

Conclusions

While Booth's study revealed a combination of gender, supervisor's preferred paradigm, and years of experience showed some ability to predict paradigm adherence, there was a great deal of variance unaccounted for by these variables. The present study included additional variables in the analyses expecting to identify relationships that might be more predictive of choice of a particular marriage and family therapy paradigm. However, no additional conclusive evidence was found on this matter.

Even though the statistical power of this study was limited by its sample size as well as by the large number of variables included, the pattern of influence (power of adherence) suggested by this study's results is coherent and generally consistent with prior literature. Furthermore, the preceding hypotheses that were supported by the present findings add to previous research, specifically to the assumption that practitioner's supervision has a powerful influence on the choice of theoretical framework.

Additionally, an interesting discrepancy was found that illustrates issues encountered by many mental health practitioners today. Psychology was the professional discipline reported by 20.5% of participants, and 22.7% reported that their most recent supervisor preferred a psychological paradigm, while only 5.7% were adhering to a psychological paradigm. These findings accounted for part of the 59% of participants who responded to the question re DSM-IV disorders treated. One explanation for this finding, which is consistent with the apparent trend highlighted, is that participants are practising from a combination of paradigms. Today Australasian MFTs seem to be following more integrative approaches in their family practice. For example, solution focused therapy is a combination of systemic techniques and social constructionist philosophies, and is being used in combination with narrative therapy (Durrant, 1994; Eron & Lund 1996). This explains the evident overlap between an individual approach to therapy and a couple or family approach.

These findings gain more strength when placing the present study within the context in which family therapy is being practiced. Currently, mental health practitioners are caught in a struggle between the need to validate the effectiveness of different MFT approaches, and the need to keep up with the ever-changing issues present in our society.

Social constructionist approaches have gained many advocates due to their socially responsible approach, and as such are serving as an agent of social change. The sociocultural values of a colonised country and the multicultural issues brought forth by populations, such as those in Australia and New Zealand provide challenges for mental health professionals that social constructionist approaches have taken on board.

Therapists are assisting family members in creating an alternative story that is more egalitarian and more consistent with the family's view of the world.

Furthermore, as Pinsof and Wynne (1995) state, for family therapy to mature as a discipline and become respectable in the mental health field, it must be able to authenticate its efficacy through rigorously conducted high quality research. A gap already exists between empirically validated research and clinical practice (Sprenkle & Moon, 1996) and the fact that social constructionists are sceptical of traditional science, is not helping close this gap. Unwillingness of clinicians to partake in research, results from the perspective of some MFT approaches that positivist research is not compatible with their philosophies, as well as the idea that research is not consistent with clinical practice.

However, new developing approaches to research are continuing to evolve in attempts to explore new therapeutic approaches in ways that are more consistent with its philosophies and ways of treating people. In postmodern research the role of interpreter becomes more important. This is because postmodern researchers are not simply reporters but constructors of the social areas they research. In researching they are adding to the social world. For example, deconstruction is considered an appropriate method for addressing research questions which are related to the way language is constructed and the effect that is gained by a particular construction (Burr, 1995). These newer methods could provide crucial information about the effectiveness of different ways of treating people.

Postmodernism concentrates on the tensions of difference and similarity erupting from globalisation processes and consequently, might give us insight into cross-cultural interaction and interaction of local and global knowledge.

REFERENCES

- Ackerman, N. W. (1966). Treating the troubled family. New York: Basic Books.
- Adelaide. (2000). Narrative therapy and community work: A conference collection.

 Adelaide: Dulwich Centre Publications.
- Alexander, J. F., Holtzworth-Munroe, A., & Jameson, P. (1994). The process and outcome of marital and family therapy: Research review and evaluation. In A. Bergin & S. Garfield (Eds.) *Handbook of psychotherapy and behaviour change* (4th ed., pp. 595-630). New York: Wiley.
- Alexander, J.F., & Parsons, B. V. (1982). Functional family therapy. Monterey, CA: Brooks/Cole.
- Andersen, T. (Ed.). (1991). The reflecting team: Dialogues and dialogues about the dialogues. New York: Norton.
- Anderson, H., & Goolishian, H. A. (1988). Human systems as linguistic systems:
 Preliminary and evolving ideas about the implications for clinical theory. Family
 Process, 27, 371-393.

- Anderson, H., & Goolishian, H. A. (1990). Beyond cybernetics: Comments on Atkinson and Heath's "Further thoughts on second-order family therapy". *Family Process*, 29, 157-163.
- Anderson, H. d., & Swim, S. (1993). Learning as collaborative conversations: Combining the student's and teacher's expertise. *Human Systems*, 4, 145-160.
- Anderson, H. d., & Swim, S. (1995). Supervision as collaborative conversations:

 Connecting the voices of supervisor and supervisee. *Journal of Systemic Thera*py, 14, 1-13.
- Australian and New Zealand Journal of Family Therapy. (1999). Training programs in family therapy in Australia and New Zealand [Special Supplement] [Electronic version]. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Family Therapy, 20, (3).
- Avis, J.M. (1985). The politics of functional family therapy: A feminist critique. *Journal* of Marital and Family Therapy, 11, 127-138.
- Avis, J.M. (1992). Where are all the family therapists? Abuse and violence within families and family therapy's response. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 18, 225-232.

- Avis, J.M. (1996). Deconstructing gender in family therapy. In F. P. Piercy, D.H

 Sprenkle, J.L. Wetchler & Associates. *Family therapy sourcebook* (2nd ed., pp.220-255). New York: The Guilford Press.
- Bateson, G. (1972). Steps to an ecology of mind. New York: Dutton.
- Bateson, G. (1978). The birth of a matrix or double-bind and epistemology. In M.M. Berger (Ed.), *Beyond the double-bind* (pp.12-28). New York: Norton.
- Bateson, G., Jackson, D. D., Haley, J., & Weakland, J. (1956). Towards a theory of schizophrenia. *Behaviour Science*, 1, 251-264.
- Baucom, D. H., & Epstein, N. (1990). Cognitive-behavioural marital therapy. New York:

 Basic Books.
- Bergin, A. E., & Garfield, S. L., (1994). *Handbook of psychotherapy and behaviour change* (4th ed.). New York: Wiley.
- Blow, A. J., & Sprenkle, D. H. (2001). Common factors across theories of marriage and family therapy: A modified Delphi study. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 27, 385-401

- Bobele, M., Gardner, G., & Biever, J. (1995). Supervision and social construction. *Journal of Systemic Therapies*, 14(2), 14-25
- Booth, T. R. (1996). Measurement, classification and prediction of paradigm adherence of Marriage and Family Therapists. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Missouri, St. Louis, Missouri.
- Booth, T.R. & Cottone, R.R. (2000). Measurement, classification and prediction of paradigm adherence of Marriage and Family Therapists. *The American Journal of Family Therapy*, 28, 329-346.
- Bor, R., Mallandain, I., & Vetere, A. (1998). What we say we do: Results of the 1997

 UK Association of Family Therapy member survey. *Journal of Family Therapy*,

 20, 333-351.
- Boszormenyi-Nagy, I., & Spark, G. M. (1973). *Invisible loyalties: Reciprocity in intergenerational family therapy*. New York: Harper and Row.
- Broderick, C. B., & Schrader, S. S. (1991). The history of professional marriage and family therapy. In A. S. Gurman & D. P. Kinskern (Eds.). *Handbook of Family Therapy*: Vol. 2, (pp. 3-41). New York: Brunner/Mazel.

- Burr, V. (1995). An introduction to social constructionism. New York: Routledge.
- Carr, A. (2000). Family therapy: concepts process and practice. Brisbane: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.
- Cecchin, G. (1992). Constructing therapeutic possibilities. In S. McNamee and K. J. Gergen (Eds.), *Therapy as social construction* (pp.86-95). London: Sage Publications.
- Cantwell, P., & Holmes, S. (1994). Social construction: A paradigm shift for systemic therapy and training. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Family Therapy, 15, 17-26.
- Coakes, S. J., & Steed, L. G. (2000). SPSS: Analysis with out anguish, version 10.0 for windows. Brisbane: Jacaranda Wiley.
- Cocking, T. & Miocevic, N. (2001). Survey of supervision practice: members of the Victorian Association of Family Therapists. Australia and New Zealand Journal of Family Therapy, (1), 46-47.

- Cohen, L.H., Sargent, M.M., & Sechrest, L. B. (1986). Use of psychotherapy research by professional psychologists. *American Psychologist*, 41, 198-206.
- Colapinto, J. (1991). Structural family therapy. In A. S. Gurman & D. P. Kinskern (Eds.),

 Handbook of Family Therapy (pp. 417-443). New York: Brunner/Mazel
- Cottone, R. R. (1989). Defining the psychomedical and systemic paradigms in marital and family therapy. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 15, 225-235.
- Cottone, R. R. (1992). Theories and paradigms of counselling and psychotherapy.

 Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Cummings, N. A., & Lucchese, G. (1978). Adoption of a psychological orientation:

 The role of the inadvertent. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice*, 15, 323-328.
- Dattilio, F. M. (1998). Cognitive-behavioral therapy with couples and families. In F. M. Dattilio (Ed.), Case studies in couple and family therapy: Systems and cognitive perspectives (pp.62-84). New York: Guilford Press.
- DeJong, P., & Berg, I.K. (1998). *Interviewing for solutions*. Pacific Grove CA: Brooks/Cole.

Denton, W., Patterson, J., & Van Meir, E. (1997). Use of the DSM in marriage and family therapy programs: Current practice and attitudes. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 22, 9-25.

Derrida, J. (1982). Margins of philosophy. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

de Shazer, S. (1988). Clues: Investigating solutions in brief therapy. New York: W.W. Norton.

de Shazer, S. (1991). Putting differences to work. New York: Norton.

de Shazer, S., & Berg, I. K. (1992). Doing therapy: A post-structural re-vision. *Journal* of Marital and Family Therapy, 18, 71-81.

Docherty, T. (Ed.). (1993). Postmodernism: A reader. New York: Harvester Wheatsheaf.

Doherty, W. J. (1991). Family therapy goes postmodern. Family Networker, 15 (5), 36-42.

Doherty W. J., & Simmons, D. S. (1996). Clinical practice patterns of marriage and family therapists: A national survey of therapists and their clients. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 22, 9-25.

- Dulwich Center. (2002). The International Journal of Narrative Therapy and

 Community Work (2002) http://www.dulwichcentre.com.au/homepage.html
- Dunn, R.L., & Schwebel, A. I. (1995). Meta-analysis of marital therapy outcome research. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 9, 58-68.
- Durrant, M. (1993). Residential treatment: A cooperative, competency-based approach to therapy and program design. New York: Norton.
- Durrant, M. (1994). Australian and New Zealand contributions to family therapy. New South Wales: University of New England Press.
- Durrant, M. (1995). Creative Strategies for school problems: Solutions for psychologists and teachers. New York: Norton.
- Efran, J. S., Lukens, R. J., & Lukens, M. D. (1988). Constructivism: What's in it for you? *The Family Therapy Networker*, 12, 27-35.

- Epston, D. Morris, F., Maisel, R., & The Anti-Anorexia/Bulimia League. (1994). A narrative approach to so called Anorexia/Bulimia. Unpublished paper.
- Epston, D., & White, M. (1992). Experience, contradiction, narrative and imagination:

 Selected papers of David Epston and Michael White 1989-1991. Adelaide: Dulwich

 Center Publications.
- Eron, J. B., & Lund, T.W. (1996). *Narrative solutions in brief therapy*. New York: Guilford Press.
- Everett, C. A. (1980). An analysis of AAMFT supervisors: Their identities, roles, and resources. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 6, 215-226.
- Fairbairn, W. D. (1952). An object relations theory of personality. New York: Basic Books.
- Falicov, C. J. (1988). Learning to think culturally. In H.A. Liddle, D.C. Breunlin, & Schwartz (Eds.), Handbook of family therapy, training and supervision (pp. 335-357). New York: Guilford Press.

- Flaskas, C., Stagoll, B., Larner, G., Hart, B., Doan, R., Weingarten, K., et al. (2000).

 Dialogue of Diversity in Therapy: A virtual symposium. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Family Therapy*, 21(3), 121-143.
- Flaskas, C. (1999). Limits and possibilities of the postmodern narrative self. *Australian* and New Zealand Journal of Family Therapy, 20(1), 20-27.
- Fisch R., Weakland, J., & Segal, I. (1982). The tactics of change: Doing therapy briefly.

 San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Fish, L. S., & Piercy, F. P. (1987). The theory and practice of structural and strategic family therapies: A Delphi study. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 13, 113-125.
- Freedman, J. & Combs, G. (1996). Narrative Therapy: The social construction of preferred realities. New York: Norton.
- Framo, J.L. (1976). Family or origin as a therapeutic resource for adults in marital and family therapy: You can and should go home again. *Family Process*, 15, 193-210.
- Framo, J.L. (1992). Family-of-origin therapy: An intergenerational approach. New York: Brunner/Mazel.

- Foucault, M. (1980). Power/Knowledge: Selected interviews and other writings. New York: Pantheon Books.
- Gergen, K.J. (1985). The social constructionist movement in modern psychology. *American Psychologist*, 40, 266-275.
- Green, R. J. (1998). Race and the field of family therapy. In McGoldrick, M. (Ed.), Revisioning Family Therapy: Race, Culture, and Gender in Clinical Practice (pp. 111-117). New York: Guilford Press.
- Goldenberg, I. & Goldenberg, H. (2000). Family Therapy: An overview. (5th ed.).

 California: Brooks/Cole.
- Guest, P. D., & Beutler, L. E. (1988). Impact of psychotherapy supervision on therapist orientation and values. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 56, 653-658.
- Gurman, A. & Kniskern, D. (1991). Handbook of family therapy, Vol. 2. New York: Brunner-Mazel.

- Hare-Mustin, R.T. (1980). Family therapy may be dangerous to your health. *Professional Psychology*, 11, 935-938.
- Hare-Mustin, R. (1987). The problem of gender in family therapy theory. *Family Process*, 26, 15-27.
- Haley, J. (1973). Uncommon therapy. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Hoffman, L. (1985) Beyond power and control: towards a second-order family systems therapy. *Family systems*, 3, 381-396.
- Hoffman, L. (1988). A constructivist position for family therapy. The Irish Journal of Psychology, 9, 110-129.
- Hoffman, L. (1990) Constructing realities: An art of lenses. Family process, 29, 1-12.
- Hoffman, L. (1991). A reflexive stance for family therapy. *Journal of Strategic and Systemic Therapies*, 10, 4-17.
- Hoffman, L. (2002). Family therapy an intimate history. New York: W.W. Norton & Company.

- Jackson, D. D. (1967). *Therapy, communication and change*. Palo Alto, CA: Science and Behaviour Books.
- Johnson, L. N., & Sandberg, J. G. (1999). Research practices of marriage and family therapists. American Journal of Family Therapy, 27, 239-250.
- Kaslow, F. W. (1984). Divorce: An evolutionary process of change in the family systems. *Journal of Divorce*, 7, 21-39.
- Kennedy, S. (1998). Research in systemic therapies: trends and realities. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Family Therapy*, 19, 151.
- Kolevzon, M. S., Sowers-Hoag, K., & Hoffman, C. (1989). Selecting a family therapy model: The role of personality attributes in eclectic practice. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 15, 249-257.
- Lebow, J. (1988). Research into practice/practice into research. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 1, 337-351.
- Love, H. & Whittaker, W. (Eds.). (1997). Practice issues for clinical and applied psychologists in New Zealand. Wellington: The New Zealand Psychological Society.

- Madanes, C., & Haley, J. (1977). Dimensions of family therapy. *Journal of Nervous* and Mental Disease, 165, 88-98.
- Maturana, H.R., & Varela, F. J. (1987). *The tree of knowledge*. Boston: New Science Library.
- McGoldrick, M. (Eds.). (1998). Re-visioning Family Therapy: Race, Culture, and Gender in Clinical Practice. New York: Guilford Press.
- McKenzie, P. N., Atkinson, B. J., Quinn, W. H., & Heath, A. W. (1986). Training and supervision in marriage and family therapy: A national survey. *The American Journal of Family Therapy*, 14, 293-303.
- McNamee, S., & Gergen, K. J. (Eds.). (1992). Therapy as social construction. London: Sage Publications.
- Meissner, W.W. (1981). Family relations in the psychoanalytic process. *Contemporary Psychoanalysis*, 17, 209-231.
- Miller, S.D., Hubble, M.A., & Duncan, B.L. (Eds.). (1996). Handbook of solution-focused brief therapy. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

- Minuchin, S. (1974). Families and family therapy. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Minuchin, S. (1998). Where is the family in narrative therapy? *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 24, 397-403.
- Moreno, J. (1945). Psychodrama. New York: Beacon House.
- Narin, R., & The National Standing Committee on Bicultural Issues. (1997). Cultural justice and ethics in psychological practice. In H. Love & W. Whittaker (Eds.), Practice issues for clinical and applied psychologists in New Zealand (pp.127-135). Wellington: The New Zealand Psychological Society.
- Nelson, T. S., & Palmer, T. R. (2001). Practitioner profiles and practice patterns for marriage and family therapists in Utah. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 27, 403-407.
- Neimeyer, R. A. (1993). An appraisal of constructivist psychotherapies. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 2, 221-224.
- Neimeyer, R. A., & Mahoney, M. J. (Eds.).(1995). Constructivism in psychotherapy.

 Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.

- Nichols, W. C. (1992). Fifty years of marital and family therapy. Washington, DC: AAMFT.
- Nichols, M. P., & Schwartz, R. C. (2001). Family Therapy: Concepts and Methods (5th ed.). Needham Heights, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Nichols, W. C., Nichols, D. P., & Hardy, K. V. (1990). Supervision in family therapy: A decade restudy. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 16, 275-285.
- Norcross, J. C., & Prochaska, J. O. (1982a). A national survey of clinical psychologists: Characteristics and activities. *The Clinical Psychologist*, 35 (2), 1; 5-8.
- Norcross, J. C., & Prochaska, J. O. (1982b). A national survey of clinical psychologists: Affiliations and orientations. *The Clinical Psychologist*, 35 (3), 1; 4-6.
- Norcross, J. C., & Prochaska, J. O. (1983). Clinicians' theoretical orientations: Selection, utilisation, and efficacy. *Professional Psychology, Research and Practice*, 14, 197-208.

- Norcross, J. C., & Wogan, M. (1983). American psychotherapists of diverse persuasions: Characteristics, theories, practices, and clients. *Professional Psychology, Research and Practice*, 14, 529-539.
- O'Hanlon, W. H. (1992). History becomes her story: Collaborative solution-oriented therapy of the after-effects of sexual abuse. In S. McNamee and K. J. Gergen (Eds.), *Therapy as social construction* (pp. 136-148). London: Sage Publications.
- O'Hanlon, W. H. & Wiener-Davis, M. (1989). In search of solutions: A new direction in psychotherapy. New York: Norton.
- Payne, M. (2000). Narrative therapy: an introduction for counsellors. California:

 Thousand Oaks.
- Perls, F.S. (1961). Gestalt therapy verbatim. Lafayette CA: Real People Press.
- Phillips, L. A. (1996). *Therapists' perception of family therapy*. Unpublished master's thesis. Massey University, Palmerston North, New Zealand.
- Piercy, F. P., & Sprenkle, D.H. (1990) Marriage and family therapy: A decade review.

 Journal of Marriage and Family, 52, 1116-1126.

- Pinsof, W.M., & Wynne, L. C. (1995). The effectiveness and efficacy of marital and family therapy: Introduction to the special issue. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 21, 341-343.
- Pinsof, W.M., Wynne, L. C., & Hambright, A. B. (1996). The outcomes of couple and family therapy: Findings, conclusions and recommendations. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice*, 33, 321-331.
- Quinn, W. H., & Davidson, B. (1984). Prevalence of family therapy models: A research note. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 10, 393-398.
- Rogers, C.R. (1980). A way of being. Boston: Houghton Mifflin.
- Saba, G. W., & Liddle, H. A. (1986). Perceptions of professional needs, practice patterns and critical issues facing family therapy trainers and supervisors. The American Journal of Family Therapy, 14, 109-122.
- Satir, V. (1972). Peoplemaking. Palo Alto, CA: Science and Behaviour Books.
- Selvini Palazzoli, M., Boscolo, L., Cecchin, G., & Prata, G. (1978). Paradox and counter-paradox. New York: Jason Aronson.

- Selvini Palazzoli, M., Boscolo, L., Cecchin, G., & Prata, G. (1980). Hypothesizing-circularity-neutrality: Three guidelines for the conductor of session. *Family process*, 19, 3-12.
- Shadish, W. R., Ragsdale, K., Glaser, R. R., & Montgomery, L. M. (1995). The efficacy and effectiveness of marital and family therapy: A perspective from meta-analysis.

 *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy, 21, 345-306.
- Simmons, D.H., & Doherty W.J (1995). Defining who we are and what we do: Clinical practice patterns of marriage and family therapists in Minnesota. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 21(1), 3-16.
- Simmons, D.H., & Doherty W.J. (1998). Does academic training background make a difference among practicing marriage and family therapists? *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 24, 321-336.
- Sprenkle, D. H., & Bischof, G. P. (1994). Contemporary family therapy in the United States. *Journal of Family Therapy*, 16, 5-23.
- Sprenkle, D. H., Keeney, B. P., & Sutton, P. M. (1982). Theorists who influence clinical members of AAMFT: A research note. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 8, 367-369.

- Sprenkle, D.H., & Moon, S. M. (1996). Toward pluralism in family therapy research. In D. H. Sprenkle & S.M. Moon (Eds.), *Research methods in family therapy* (pp. 3-19). New York: Guilford Press.
- Sprenkle, D. H., & Wilkie, S. G. (1996). Supervision and training. In F. P. Piercy, D.H.

 Sprenkle, J.L. Wetchler, & Associates (Eds.), Family Therapy sourcebook (2nd ed.,

 pp. 350-391). New York: Guilford Press.
- Steiner, G. L. (1978). A survey to identify factors in therapists' selection of a therapeutic orientation. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice*, 15, 371-374.
- Strand, P. S. (1997). Toward a developmentally informed narrative therapy. *Family Process*, 36(4) 325-339.
- Sulzki, C. (1998). In search lost the lost family: A footnote to Minuchin's essay. *Journal* of Marital and Family Therapy, 24, 415-418.
- Sundland, D. M. (1977). Theoretical orientations of psychotherapists. In A. S. Gurman and A. M. Razin (Eds.), *Effective psychotherapy: A handbook of research*. New York: Pergamon.

- Tamasese, K., & Waldegrave, C. (1993). Cultural and gender accountability in the "Just Therapy" approach. *Journal of Feminist Family Therapy*, 5: 29-45.
- Todd, T., & Storm, C. (1997) (Eds.). The complete systemic supervisor: Context, philosophy and pragmatics. Needham Heights, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Tomm, K. (1984). One perspective on the Milan systemic approach: I. Overview of development, theory and practice. *Journal of Marital & Family Therapy*, 10(2), 113-125.
- Tomm, K. & Sanders, G. L. (1983). Diagnosis and assessment in family therapy: V.

 Family assessment in a problem-oriented record. *Family Therapy Collections*. No 4, 101-122
- von Foerster, H. (1981). Observing systems. Seaside, CA: Intersystems.
- von Glasersfeld, E. (1984). An introduction to radical constructivism. In P. Watzlawick (Ed.), *The invented reality: How do we know what we believe we know?* (pp. 24-46). New York: W.W. Norton.

- von Glasersfeld, E. (1988). The reluctance to change a way of thinking. Radical constructivism and autopoiesis and psychotherapy [Special Issue]. *Irish Journal of Psychology*, 9, 83-90.
- Waldegrave, C. T. (1990). Just Therapy. Dulwich Center Newsletter, 1, 5-46.
- Waldegrave, C. T. (1998). The challenges of culture to psychology and postmodern thinking. In McGoldrick, M. (Eds.), Re-visioning Family Therapy: Race, Culture, and Gender in Clinical Practice (pp. 404-413). New York: Guilford Press.
- Waldegrave, C. T. & Tamasese, K. (1993). Some central ideas in the 'Just Therapy' approach. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Family Therapy, 14, 1-8.
- Weakland, J. H., Fisch, R., Watzlawick, P., & Bodin, A. M. (1974). Brief therapy: Focused problem resolution. *Family Process*, 13, 141-168.
- Weiner-Davis, M., de Shazer, S., & Gingerich, W.J. (1987). Building on pre-treatment change to construct the therapeutic solution. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy* 13, 359-363.
- Welfel, E. R. (1998). Ethics in counselling and psychotherapy: Standards, research, and emerging issues. Pacific Grove, CA: Brooks/Cole.

Wetchler, J. L. (1988). Primary and secondary influential theories of family therapy supervisors: A research note. *Family Therapy*, 15, 69-74.

White, M. (1989). Selected papers. Adelaide: Dulwich Centre Publications.

White, M. (1992). Deconstruction and family therapy. *Dulwich Center Newsletter*, 3, 21-40.

White, M. (1995). *Re-authoring lives: Interviews and essays*. Adelaide, Australia: Dulwich Center Publications.

White, M. (1997). Narrative of therapists' lives. Adelaide: Dulwich Centre Publications.

White, M. (2001). Folk psychology and narrative practice. *Dulwich Center Journal*.

Adelaide: Dulwich Centre Publications.

- White, M. & Epston, D. (1990). *Narrative means to therapeutic ends*. Adelaide: Dulwich Centre Publications.
- Weiling, E., Neggreti, M. A., Stokes, S., Kimball, T., et al. (2001). Postmodernism in marriage and family therapy training: Doctoral students' understanding and experiences. *Journal of Marital and Family Therapy*, 27, 427-533.

- Wogan, M., & Norcross, J. C. (1985). Dimensions of therapeutic skills and techniques: Empirical identification, therapist correlates, and predictive utility. *Psychotherapy*, 22, 63-74.
- Wynne L.C., McDaniel, S. H. & Weber, T. T. (1987). Professional politics and concepts of family therapy, family consultation, and systems consultation. *Family Process* 26, 153-166.
- Zimmerman, J., & Dickerson, V. (1996). If problems talked: Adventures in narrative therapy. New York: Guilford Press.

Appendix A

Paradigm Adherence Scale (PAS)

Please indicate which statement best fits your point of view by circling only one response.

- 1. Mr. and Mrs. Smith are frustrated about their child's problematic behaviour at home and take him to a therapist. The therapist is likely to hypothesise that:
 - a. The child and each parent may have multiple, possibly competing, perspectives about the "problem behaviour".
 - b. The child may be inadvertently benefiting from misbehaviour.
 - c. The child's behaviours may be symptomatic of parental discord.
- 2. A client comes to therapy with complaints of feeling anxious and having relationship problems. The therapist believes the client may feel less anxious after:
 - a. Discussing and negotiating a different view of relationships with self and others.
 - b. Engaging in counselling and experiencing a positive change in his or her relationship.
 - c. Identifying and modifying thoughts, feelings, or behaviours associated with the anxiety.
- 3. A client attends the first meeting with a therapist. The therapist should ask about:
 - a. The client's ideas about the problem and significant meanings the problem has for him or her.
 - The description of the problem, including the frequency and duration of symptoms experienced by the client.
 - c. Who is involved in the problem and interactional patterns around the problem?
- 4. Family members each tell a therapist their accounts of what happened during a recent family conflict. The therapist:
 - a. Wishes he or she had been "a fly on the wall" during the conflict in order to know who was really at fault.
 - b. Believes that each member of the family participated in the creation of the problem.
 - c. Believes that each person's version of what happened is equally valid and plausible, and that negotiation would need to occur in order to reach a conclusion about the problem.
- 5. A therapist who was assisting a family struggling with a problem assumed that:
 - a. Family members can change only after they understand and deal with their individual problems.
 - b. Getting different interactions to occur can lead to healthy changes in family relationships.
 - c. Discussing and negotiating ideas for solutions with family members can lead to positive change.

6. When working with parents and misbehaving teenagers, it is most helpful for the therapist to try to:

- Foster more consensus about appropriate behaviours and develop agreements about how to resolve differences.
- b. Assist the parent with behaviour management and assist the teenager in modifying feelings, thoughts, or behaviours so that he or she may function in a healthy way.
- c. Change family interacional sequences within which the problem is being maintained.

7. When parents seek therapy related to managing their child's behaviour at home, an effective therapeutic invention is:

- a. Setting up a program whose goal is to help the parents modify the child's behaviours.
- Facilitating discussions whose goal is to create agreement about the nature of the problem and proposed solutions.
- c. Making assignments whose goal is to alter family structure and hierarchy.

8. A husband and wife bring their child to a therapist saying that the girl has low self-esteem and seems depressed. The therapist decides it would be best to:

- a. Define characteristics of "depressed" and "not depressed" with the family members and to help them to emphasise and expand their experiences of "not depressed".
- b. Examine the family relationships and, having discovered how being depressed serves to maintain balance in the family system, work to facilitate a new balance that does not require depression.
- c. See the girl individually to examine and to treat the self-esteem problems and depression and to include the parents to facilitate their understanding of these interventions.

9. Mr. and Mrs. Jones are having problems in their marriage. The therapist believes the problem is most likely due to:

- a. Unsuccessful attempts to negotiate mutually acceptable ideas for change.
- A difficulty in how they are relating to each other and in how they are attempting to solve the problem.
- c. A psychological disturbance of one or both of the partners.

10. Family members were seeking the advice of a therapist about problems getting along together. The therapist believed it was her or his job to:

- Understand the interpersonal parameters of the problem and perhaps assign tasks for family members.
- b. Assess and to assist in modifying each family member's thoughts, feelings, and/or behaviours to facilitate a healthier adjustment to others in the household.
- Help the family members to come to some agreement about how to resolve differences and improve family functioning.

11. In meeting with clients, therapists:

- Assume they cannot help but influence and be influenced by the description and meaning of a problem brought to therapy.
- b. Can maintain an objective stance about the client's symptoms, problems, and ways to treat these given their experience in the area of human behaviour.
- c. Are aware that they may become part of the client's or family's "system" but can still maintain objectivity about what is going on and how best to intervene.

12. A primary general goal of therapy when seeing a couple for marriage counselling is:

- a. To facilitate change in each partner's feelings, thoughts, or behaviours.
- b. To facilitate change in the relationship through alteration of interactional sequences.
- To facilitate change through consensus building about what needs to happen for the relationship to improve.

13. In order to help clients it is important to:

- a. To try to get the cause of the problem so that it may be solved.
- b. Focus on constructing with clients a future where the problem does not occur.
- See that problems occur in reciprocal interactions and focus on patterns of interaction for finding solutions.

14. The therapist's role in working with individuals, couples of families is to:

- a. Facilitate change in the resolution of problematic patterns of interaction.
- b. Emphasise and expand processes of change, which are already occurring with clients.
- Assess clients and suggest interventions designed to produce healthier feelings, thoughts, and/or behaviours.

15. Couples will find therapy to be helpful when:

- Each person gains an understanding of the other's motivation or feeling behind particular behaviour.
- b. Both experience a positive change in their way of interacting.
- c. They are able to construct a new definition of a good relationship.

16. A marriage therapist in the initial stages of therapy should:

- a. Discuss with the couple ideas regarding the problem and proposed solutions.
- b. Observe the couple's interactional dynamics around the presenting problem.
- c. Assess each partner's personality style before proceeding with therapy.

17. A therapist addressing a problem within a family context should:

- a. Work on altering relationship patterns occurring between family members.
- b. Negotiate with family members how to guide the process of change in a more satisfying direction.
- Attempt to intervene on those emotional, behavioural or belief processes causing problems for family members.

18. In couples therapy, the therapist should ask the clients to:

- a. Create agreement about how to change the relationship.
- b. Modify internal beliefs of expectations and change behaviours to facilitate adjustment to the partner's personality.
- Engage in interactional tasks either during of outside the session that interrupts current interpersonal patterns.

19. A family involved in therapy because one of the children is having school problems would observe the therapist:

- Viewing the identified child as the symptom bearer for the family and helping the family change their interactions.
- Enlisting the family's help in getting the child to a higher level of emotional and behavioural functioning at school.
- c. Seeking input from the child, family, school, and any others involved with the problem in order to develop a consensus about how it should be solved.

20. A client tells a therapist that he is depressed and nervous because his wife constantly nags at him. It would be helpful for the therapist:

- a. To explore a variety of equal plausible explanations for the client's depression.
- b. To consider the client's depression and the wife's nagging behaviour as two important components of a reciprocal interactional sequence in which each affects the other.
- To view the client's depression as caused by the marital distress as well as problematic internal feelings and beliefs.

21. A therapist is working with a couple and the partners have reported ongoing arguing and bickering with each other. The therapist may assume that:

- a. The partners have been unable to come to agreement on the nature of their problems and solutions for change.
- b. They have not learned to accept each partner's limitations.
- c. The partners are "stuck" in a conflictual relationship pattern.

22. A therapist meets with the family after the parents have expressed concern about the children's constant fighting with each other. The therapist is likely to focus on:

- Identifying the children's beliefs and feelings underlying the fighting behaviour and having the parent provide incentives for getting along.
- b. Negotiating common grounds for how interactions could be more satisfying.
- c. Sequences of behaviours around the fighting and facilitating new patterns of interactions.

23. When clients report feeling anxious the therapist should:

- a. Assess the relationship context within which the anxiety is manifested.
- b. Ask about definitions of anxiety and what it would take to agree that anxiety is no longer a problem.
- c. Assess the feelings, thoughts, or behaviours that are related to the anxiety.

24. A therapist:

- Should assist families with finding solutions through negotiation and consensus building in order to be helpful to them.
- Should get to know the structural characteristics and interactional patterns of the whole family in order to be helpful to clients.
- c. Needs to examine the internal and external processes occurring with family members in order to be helpful to clients.
- * Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner, Therese J. Booth University of Missouri-St. Louis, 8001 Natural Bridge Rd., St Louis, MO 63121.

Appendix B

Demographic Data

Please answer the following questions only after finishing the PAS.

PLEASE TICK THE APPROPRIATE BOX OR FILL IN THE DESIGNATED SPACE

1.	Gender:	
	1. Female	2. Male
2.	Age	
3.	Ethnic Identity:	
4.	Highest Qualification Earned:	
	 Undergraduate Diploma or Certificate□ Bachelors□ Postgraduate Diploma□ 	4. Masters
5.	Discipline of Highest Qualification:	
	1. Social Work □ 2. Psychology □ 3. Counselling □ 4. Psychiatry/M.D. □	 5. Marriage & family therapy □ 6. Nursing □ 7. Child psychotherapist □ 8. Other (please specify)
6.	Years of Clinical Experience (since receiving n	nental health qualification):
7.	Primary Work Setting (Please tick the one you	do most work in.):
	1. Outpatient mental health (adult)	7. University
8.	Approximate Number of Years Working in Mar	riage and Family Therapy:

Weekly Cl	inical C	ontact Hour	s:						
Average N	lumber	of Sessions	Per Ca	ase:					
Primary M	odes of	Practice (Fe	or each	n mode	of practice	, pleas	e tick one bo	ox):	
	Often	Sometimes	Few	Never		Often	Sometimes	Few	Ne
Individual					Family				(
Child				0	Group		0		1
Couple					Combined				Ţ
		Seen Presen	-					ם	
 Marital Parent- Child be Depres Anxiety Alcohol Work p Post-die Stepfan 	problem child pro- ehaviour sion/drugs /drugs roblems vorce pro- nily prob	s			11. Sc 12. Fir 13. Se 14. Ea 15. Se 16. Su 17. Cc 18. Ph	chool pro nancial pro exual pro exual ab iicide ris ommuni eysical il	or more.): oblems oblems orders use cation lness ase specify)		
 Marital Parent- Child be Depres Anxiety Alcohol Work p Post-die Stepfan Family Most Freq Adjustn 	problem child problems ion/drugs roblems vorce prohily prob	s	lt with	(Please	11. Sc 12. Fir 13. Se 14. Ea 15. Se 16. Su 17. Cc 18. Ph 19. Gr 20. Ot	chool pro- mancial pro- exual pro- exual ab- exual ab- icide ris- emmuni- eysical il ief/loss her (ple- pro- exual ab- muni- eysical il ief/loss	oblems problems oblems sorders use sk cation lness ase specify)		

16. Do You Feel Competent Treating (Please tick one or more.):

1.	Males	
2.	Females	10. Clients with an intellectual disability.
3.	Adolescents	11. NZ European/Pakeha
4.	Children	12. Australian
5.	Adults	13. Maori 🗖
6.	Elderly	14. Pacific Islander □
7.	Homosexual males	15. Torres Strait Islanders □
8.	Homosexual females	16. Asian□
9.	Clients with physical impairments□	17. Other (please specify)

*Please read the brief descriptions of three different styles of therapy (A, B, and C) and indicate which description best represents the perspective of the clinical supervisors you have had, based on what occurs during supervision sessions.

Style A: This therapist focuses on the individual and intrapersonal processes, whether or not family members are present. Therapeutic change occurs through interventions designed to facilitate changing a person's thoughts, feelings, and/or behaviours. Clients are assessed and diagnosed using DSM-IV or other psychological criteria. Treatment decisions are made based on the results of this assessment, which identifies causes of problems and the target of intervention.

Style B: This clinician focuses on relationships and interpersonal processes. Individual concerns are usually redefined to a relational context. Therapeutic change occurs through social relationships, as problems brought to therapy are viewed as symptomatic of what is wrong in the client's relationships of significance. Social and familial interactions tend to be the primary targets for therapeutic interventions.

Style C: This practitioner focuses on the social and language processes that lead to clients (and therapists) deciding that a problem exists. Attention is given to the various perspectives and "realities" about the problem and its solutions, and ways in which these different views may be acknowledged and co-ordinated. The client may be an individual, a whole family, or varying groups of family members or significant others. Solutions in therapy usually arise through negotiating, creating agreements, constructing alternatives, and other consensus-building processes.

17. For each of the supervisors listed below, please indicate which style of therapy best represents their perspective by circling only one of A, B, or C:

Thorony Chilo

		In	era	by Style
1.	Your primary pre-graduate practicum/internship clinical supervisor	Α	В	С
2.	Your postgraduate clinical supervisor	Α	В	С
3.	Your current or most recent clinical supervisor	Α	В	С

Appendix C

Dear Practitioner:

My Name is Alexandra Mealla, I am a graduate student in the School of Psychology at Massey University in New Zealand. As part of my MA thesis I wish to survey therapists from various disciplines who work with families. My main objective is to collect information about the professional practice of family therapy in New Zealand and Australia. I intend to compare these results with similar studies conducted in the United States.

I am writing to you in the hope that you will be willing to participate in the research study regarding various theoretical frameworks and therapeutic techniques utilised by marriage and family therapy professionals. Should you agree to participate, you will be asked to complete the enclosed questionnaire, consisting of the Paradigm Adherence Scale (PAS), and a demographic/background information sheet.

The PAS focuses on theoretical assumptions and beliefs related to marriage and family therapy, and techniques and interventions employed in clinical practice. By completing the questionnaire, you will contribute to knowledge about contemporary theoretical and practical trends in the field in New Zealand and Australia. You can also get feedback about how your techniques or orientation compares to other practitioners in child and family therapy.

The implementation of this study is bound by the New Zealand Psychological Society Code of Ethics and there are no anticipated risks in your participation in the study. The survey will take approximately 15 to 20 minutes of your time.

This questionnaire is anonymous and no one except the principal investigator and her thesis supervisors will have access to the information collected. Each questionnaire has been given an identification number to keep track of responders and non-responders; you are not asked to disclose your name on the survey. To further preserve your confidentiality, the list of names corresponding to identification numbers will be stored separately from the questionnaire data and will be destroyed at the end of the study. I would appreciate you answering all questions on the PAS; however, you are free to choose not to answer individual questions. You are also free to withdraw from the study at any time.

137

When you respond to the questionnaire, please complete the PAS first, before responding to

the demographic data sheet. Please return the questionnaire in the freepost envelope

provided by September 21, 2001.

If you wish to obtain a summary of the findings of the study when completed please send in

the attached slip with your name and address. The slip will be separated from the

questionnaire so there will be no association between your contact details and the completed

questionnaire.

Completion of the questionnaire implies that you have consented to take part in the study.

Should you desire further information, or if you have any questions about the research now or

at a later date you may contact the principal investigator at the address above.

Thank you in advance for your time and effort.

Yours sincerely,

Alexandra Mealla

Principal Investigator &

Masters Candidate

E- mail: Maria.Mealla.1.@uni.massey.ac.nz

Phone: 025-641-2425

(
would like to receive a summary of the findings of the study upon completion.	
ease post it to the following address:	
ame:	
ddress:	_
uburb:	_
ity:	

Appendix D

Scoring Key for the PAS

P = Psychological Paradigm

S = Systems Paradigm

SC = Social Constructionist Paradigm

1a. SC	7a. P	13a. P	19a. SC
1b. P	7b. SC	13b. SC	19b. P
1c. S	7c. S	13c. S	19c. SC
2a. SC	8a. SC	14a. S	20a. SC
2b. S	8b. S	14b. SC	20b. S
2c. P	8c. P	14c. P	20c. P
3a. SC	9a. SC	15a. P	21a. SC
3b. P	9b. S	15b. S	21b. P
3c. S	9c. P	15c. SC	21c. S
4a. P	10a. S	16a. SC	22a. P
4b. S	10b. P	16b. S	22b. SC
4c. SC	10c. SC	16c. P	22c. S
5a. P	11a. SC	17a. S	23a. S
5b. S	11b. P	17b. SC	23b. SC
5c. SC	11c. S	17c. P	23c. P
6a. SC	12a. P	18a. SC	24a. SC
6b. P	12b. S	18b. P	24b. S
6c. S	12c. SC	18c. S	24c. P

Someone is categorised as adhering to one of the three paradigms if 12 or more item responses (at least 50%) are reflective of one primary paradigm and if the person chose not more than 8 items (33% or less) for each of the other two paradigms. For instance, a subject would be classified as primarily adhering to the systems paradigm if 15 item responses were associated with the systems paradigm, and 6 and 3 responses were associated with the social constructionist and psychological paradigms, respectively. A subject receiving scores of 12, 10, and 2 for the social constructionist, systems and psychological paradigms would be classified as adhering to a combination of paradigms.

^{*} Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner, Therese J. Booth University of Missouri-St. Louis, 8001 Natural Bridge Rd., St Louis, MO 63121.

Appendix E

Table 10. Percentages of Sample Reporting Most Frequent Presenting Problems (N=86).

Presenting Problem % 70 1. Marital problems 81.4 2. Parent-child problems 59 68.6 3. Child behaviour 53 61.6 68 79.1 4. Depression 5. Anxiety 47 54.7 48 55.8 6. Alcohol/drugs 23 26.7 7. Work problems 8. Post-divorce problems 32 37.2 9. Stepfamily problems 30.2 26 10. Family violence 33 38.4 11. School problems 26 30.2 17.4 12. Financial problems 15 40 46.5 13. Sexual problems 24 27.9 14. Eating disorders 15. Sexual abuse 37 43.0 16. Suicide risk 37 43.0 74.4 17. Communication problems 64 18. Physical illness 27 31.4 19. Grief/loss 76.7 66 20. Other 1 1.2

Table 11. Percentages of Sample Reporting Most Frequent Disorders Treated (N=52).

	n	%
Adjustment disorders	16	30.7
2. Anxiety disorders	31	59.6
3. Depressive disorders	43	82.7
4. PTSD	33	63.5
5. Personality disorders	10	19.2
6. Alcohol/drug abuse	33	63.5
7. Eating disorders	17	32.7
8. ADHD	27	51.9
9. Conduct disorder	22	42.3
Bipolar disorder	10	19.2
11. Psychotic disorders	8	15.4
12. Schizophrenia	7	13.5
13. Sexual disorders	28	53.8
14. Other	3	5.8

Table 12. Percentages of Sample's Confidence Treating Specific Populations (N=81)

	n	%
1. Males	81	100
2. Females	78	96.3
3. Adolescents	64	79.0
4. Children	58	71.6
5. Adults	80	98.8
6. Elderly	46	56.8
7. Homosexual males	58	71.6
8. Homosexual females	61	75.3
Clients with physical impairments	64	79.0
10. Clients with intellectual disabilities	33	40.7
11. NZ European/Paheka	78	96.3
12. Maori	38	46.9
13. Australian European	71	87.7
14. Australian Aboriginal	16	19.8
15. Pacific Islander	34	42.0
16. Torres Strait Islander	10	12.3
17. Asian	25	30.9
18. Other	8	9.9